A STUDY OF INTRATHECAL STRYCHNINE-INDUCED ALLODYNIA IN THE LIGHTLY ANESTHETIZED RAT



# TOTAL OF 10 PAGES ONLY MAY BE XEROXED

(Without Author's Permission)

HEMAL KHANDWALA







National Library of Canada

Acquisitions and Bibliographic Services

395 Wellington Street Ottawa ON K1A 0N4 Canada Bibliothèque nationale du Canada

Acquisitions et services bibliographiques

395, rue Wellington Ottawa ON K1A 0N4 Canada

Your file Votre référence

Our file Notre référence

The author has granted a nonexclusive licence allowing the National Library of Canada to reproduce, loan, distribute or sell copies of this thesis in microform, paper or electronic formats.

The author retains ownership of the copyright in this thesis. Neither the thesis nor substantial extracts from it may be printed or otherwise reproduced without the author's permission.

Canadä

L'auteur a accordé une licence non exclusive permettant à la Bibliothèque nationale du Canada de reproduire, prêter, distribuer ou vendre des copies de cette thèse sous la forme de microfiche/film, de reproduction sur papier ou sur format électronique.

L'auteur conserve la propriété du droit d'auteur qui protège cette thèse. Ni la thèse ni des extraits substantiels de celle-ci ne doivent être imprimés ou autrement reproduits sans son autorisation.

0-612-25857-2

# A STUDY OF INTRATHECAL STRYCHNINE-INDUCED ALLODYNIA IN THE LIGHTLY ANESTHETIZED RAT

by

Hemal Khandwala

A thesis submitted to the School of Graduate Studies in

partial fulfilment of the requirements for the degree of

**Master of Science** 

Specialization: Pharmacology

School of Pharmacy

Memorial University of Newfoundland

St. John's, Newfoundland

April 1997

### ABSTRACT

Allodynia, an outcome of neural injury, is a condition in which non-painful stimuli (e.g. light brushing or light touch of clothing) evoke pain. Unlike normal (nociceptive) pain, allodynia is triggered by input from low-threshold (AB) afferent fibers. Normally, the synaptic transmission of AB-input appears to be modulated by alvcine released from spinal interneurons. Thus, the blockade of spinal glycine receptors with intrathecal (i.t.) strychnine (STR) produces reversible, segmentally localized allodynia in the rat: a condition blocked by the spinal administration of excitatory amino acid (EAA) receptor antagonists. These results suggest that, in the absence of spinal glycinergic modulation, input from Aβ-fibers acquire access to spinal pain-signalling pathways. If this hypothesis is correct, then i.t. STRinduced allodynia should be blocked by antagonists of spinal NMDA-receptors, and by neuromodulatory systems that modulate EAA-mediated synaptic transmission in the spinal cord. Therefore, the specific objectives of this study were to: 1) determine the effect of i.t. AP-7 (NMDA-antagonist), cyclopentyladenosine (Aagonist; CPA), CGS-21680 (A2-agonist), muscimol (GABAA-agonist) and baclofen (GABA<sub>e</sub>-agonist) on STR-allodynia; 2) compare the effect of intravenous mexiletine on STR-allodynia and calibrated bilateral paw-pinch (without STR): 3) determine the effect of intravenous milacemide (a glycine prodrug and substrate for MAO-B) on STR-allodynia; and 4) test the sensitivity of this milacemide effect to

pretreatment with clorgyline (MAO-A inhibitor) or I-deprenyl (MAO-B inhibitor). Male, Sprague- Dawley rats, fitted with i.t. catheters, were lightly anesthetized with urethane. Stimulus-evoked changes in blood pressure and heart rate, and cortical electroencephalographic (EEG) activity were continuously recorded. After i.t. STR (40 µg), repetitive brushing of the hair with a cotton tipped applicator (a normally ineffective stimulus) evoked a marked and progressive increase in mean arterial pressure (MAP) and heart rate (HR), an abrupt motor withdrawal (WD) response and desynchronization of the EEG; effects comparable to those elicited by intradermal mustard oil without STR. Pretreatment with i.t. AP-7, CPA, CGS and muscimol, but not baclofen, dose-dependently inhibited STR-allodynia without affecting EEG synchrony. The ED sos for i.t. AP-7 were: 1.12 µg for the evoked change MAP, 1.71 µg for the evoked change in HR, and 0.36 µg for the evoked change in withdrawal duration. The corresponding ED<sub>50</sub>s ranged from 0.02-0.07 µg for CPA; 2.69-3.11 µg for CGS and 0.44-0.51 µg for muscimol. Intravenous mexiletine inhibited the responses evoked by noxious paw-pinch (without STR) and hair deflection in STR-treated rats with equal potency (ED<sub>so</sub>s = 9-17 mg/kg). There was no concurrent change in EEG synchrony and no blockade of motor efferent pathways. Intravenous milacemide inhibited STR-allodynia (ED<sub>50</sub>s = 398-404 mg/kg) at doses having no effect on normal nociception. This selective antiallodynic effect was blocked by pretreatment with I-deprenyl, but not with clorgyline. The results of this study support the following conclusions. 1) Glycine is a selective modulator of non-noxious somatosensory input in the spinal cord of the rat. 2) In the presence of i.t. STR. low threshold afferent input accesses an NMDA-mediated spinal sensitisation mechanism normally activated by high threshold (nociceptive) fibers 3) Systemic mexiletine inhibits both abnormal (STR-allodynia) and normal (noxious pinch) nociception at a common central site, most likely the dorsal horn cells receiving convergent AB- and C-fiber input. 4) The recruitment of neuromodulatory systems utilizing spinal A- and GABA -receptors blocks the abnormal responses to hair deflection during STR blockade of spinal glycine receptors. 5) Increasing central glycine concentration by means of a systemic glycine prodrug (milacemide) normalizes the spinal processing of low threshold afferent input in STR-allodynia. 6) The spinal pharmacology of STR-allodynia is similar to that of clinical allodynia, and clearly distinct from that of normal nociception. 7) STR-allodynia is a rapid, selective and valid non-injury model for investigating this abnormal pain state.

## ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I wish to express my sincere appreciation to my research supervisor, Dr. Christopher Loomis for his expert guidance throughout my research and thorough review of this thesis. I am also grateful to Dr. Detlef Bieger for his advice.

I would also like to extend my gratitude to Mr. John Cruz Bautista, Ms. Elizabeth Hodge and Ms. Janet Robinson for their skilful technical assistance and their friendship.

I would like to thank the faculty members and staff of the School of Pharmacy for their encouragement and kind help.

I am grateful to the School of Pharmacy, School of Graduate Studies, the Pharmaceutical Manufacturer's Association Canada - Health Research Foundation and the Medical Research Council of Canada for providing financial support during my degree program.

I would also like to thank Searle Inc. and Boehringer Ingelheim for providing milacemide and mexiletine for use in these experiments.

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

ABSTRACT
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS
TABLE OF CONTENTS vi
LIST OF FIGURES
LIST OF TABLES
LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS
1 Introduction
1.1 Statement of the Research Problem 1
1.2 General Organisation of the Somatosensory System 5
1.2.1 Primary Afferent Neurons 5
1.2.2 Second Order Neurons
1.2.3 Excitatory Neurotransmitters and Neuromodulators in Somatosensory Processing in the Spinal Cord 9
1.2.4 Ascending Neural Tracts Conveying Sensory Information. 10
1.3 Neuropathic Pain
1.3.1 General Features of Neuropathic Pain
1.3.2 Pathophysiology of Neuropathic Pain
1.4 Allodynia
1.4.1 Role of Aβ-fibres in Allodynia

	1.4.2 Role of Spinal Glycinergic Interneurons in Allodynia 18		
	1.4.3 Strychnine-induced Allodynia 20		
	1.4.4 Spinal Pharmacology of Intrathecal Strychnine-induced Allodynia		
	1.5 Role of Excitatory Amino Acid Receptors in Sensory Processing . 24		
	1.6 Effects of Local Anaesthetics on Normal Nociception and Neuropathic Pain		
	1.7 Inhibitory Modulation in Sensory Processing		
	1.7.1 Role of Spinal Adenosine		
	1.7.2 Role of Spinal GABA 32		
	1.7.3 Role of Spinal Glycine		
	1.8 Rationale and Specific Research Objectives		
2 M	ethods		
	2.1 Animals		
	2.2 Implantation of Intra-thecal Catheters		
	2.3 Acute Anaesthetized Animal Preparation		
	2.4 Application of Stimuli		
	2.5 Drug Administration		
	2.6 Experimental Protocols		
	2.6.1 Control Experiment 45		
	2.6.2 Quantification of Strychnine-induced Allodynia 45		
	2.6 Experimental Protocols		

	2.6.3 Dose-response analysis for intrathecally administered		
	drugs 47		
	2.6.4 DPCPX Experiments 48		
	2.6.5 Mexiletine Experiments 45		
	2.7 Protocols For Milacemide		
	2.7.1 Dose Response Study 50		
	2.7.2 Comparison of the Effect of Milacemide on Strychnine-allodynia and Mechanical Nociception 50		
	2.7.3 Clorgyline and L-Deprenyl Experiments		
2.8 Data Analysis			
3 Results			
	3.1 General Observations Following Intrathecal Strychnine		
3.2 Effect of AP-7 on Strychnine-allodynia			
	3.3 Effect of Mexiletine on Strychnine-allodynia and Normal Nociception 6'   3.4 Effects of Adenosine Agonists on Strychnine-allodynia 6'   3.5 Effects of GABA Agonists on Strychnine-allodynia 7'		
	3.6 Effect of Milacemide on Strychnine-allodynia and Normal Nociception		

4 Discussion
4.1 Strychnine-allodynia
4.2 Effect of AP-7 on Strychnine-allodynia: role of NMDA receptors 81
4.3 Effect of Mexiletine on Strychnine-allodynia and Normal Nociception
4.4 Effect of Adenosine Agonists on Strychnine-allodynia: role of A <sub>1</sub> receptors
4.5 Effect of GABA Agonists on Strychnine-allodynia: role of GABA <sub>A</sub> receptors
4.6 Effect of Milacemide on Strychnine-allodynia: role of glycine receptors
4.7 Future Directions
4.8 Summary
5 References

# LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1	Possible neurotransmitters/neuromodulators and their receptor systems implicated in the spinal processing of low-threshold afferent input.
Figure 2	Cross section of spinal cord showing the termination of primary afferent fibers in dorsal grey matter
Figure 3	Systemic milacemide readily crosses blood-brain-barrier where it is converted to glycine by the action of monoamine oxidase-B
Figure 4	Summary of the strychnine control protocol and dose-response protocols
Figure 5	Summary of protocols for the milacemide experiments 52
Figure 6	Sample polygraph tracings of arterial blood pressure, heart rate and cortical EEG illustrating the effect of non-noxious hair deflection in intrathecal saline- and strychnine-treated rats 58
Figure 7	Intrathecal AP-7 dose dependently suppresses intrathecal strychnine-allodynia
Figure 8	Sample polygraph tracings of arterial blood pressure, heart rate, and cortical EEG illustrating the effect of intrathecal AP-7 on strychnine-allodynia and noxious mechanical hind paw-pinch in the rat
Figure 9	Sample polygraph tracings of arterial blood pressure, heart rate, and cortical EEG illustrating the effect of intravenous mexiletine on i.t. strychnine-allodynia and noxious mechanical hind paw pinch in the rat
Figure 10	Intravenous mexiletine dose-dependently suppresses intrathecal strychnine-allodynia
Figure 11	Intravenous mexiletine dose-dependently suppresses paw-pinch induced responses in absence of strychnine 65

Figure 12	Intrathecal CPA dose-dependently suppresses intrathecal strychnine-allodynia
Figure 13	Inhibition of anti-allodynic effect of CPA or CGS by pretreatment with intrathecal DPCPX
Figure 14	Intrathecal CGS-21680 dose-dependently suppresses intrathecal strychnine-allodynia
Figure 15	Intrathecal muscimol dose-dependently suppresses intrathecal strychnine-allodynia
Figure 16	Intravenous milacernide exerts its maximum effect on intrathecal strychnine-allodynia two hours after injection without affecting EEG synchrony
Figure 17	Intravenous milacemide suppresses intrathecal strychnine- allodynia in a dose- and time-dependent manner, without affecting EEG synchrony
Figure 18	Milacemide (600mg/kg, i.v.) significantly inhibits intrathecal strychnine-allodynia but has no effect on normal mechanical nociception
Figure 19	The suppression of strychnine-allodynia by intravenous milacemide is blocked by I-deprenyl, but not clorgyline 79
Figure 20	Schematic diagram illustrating the postulated role of excitatory amino acid-receptor systems and neuromodulatory systems in the spinal processing of low-threshold afferent input

# LIST OF TABLES

Table I	Classification of fibers in peripheral nerves
Table II	Comparison of the spinal pharmacology of i.t. strychnine- allodynia and normal nociception (without strychnine)
Table III	ED <sub>50</sub> s and 95% C.I. of AP-7
Table IV	ED <sub>50</sub> s and C.I. of i.v. mexiletine
Table V	ED <sub>50</sub> s and 95% C.I. of CPA or CGS
Table VI	ED <sub>50</sub> s and 95% C.I. of muscimol71
Table VII	Effect of baclofen on HD-evoked responses in strychnine-treated rats
Table VIII	ED <sub>50</sub> s and 95% C.I. of milacemide

# LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

percent
degree(s) Celsius
alpha, a Greek letter
beta, a Greek letter
gamma, a Greek letter
delta, a Greek letter
mu, a Greek letter, used to indicate micro in metric units
microgram(s), 10 <sup>-6</sup> grams, unit of mass
microliter(s), 10 <sup>-6</sup> litres, units of volume
5-hydroxytryptamine
A-beta, a class of primary afferent neurons
A-delta, a class of primary afferent neurons
adenosine receptor subtype
adenosine receptor subtype
α-amino-3-hydroxy-5-methyl-4-isoxazolepropionic acid
analysis of variance
D-aminophosphonovalerate
(±)-2-amino-7-phosphonoheptanoic acid
aspartate
adenosine triphosphate
blood brain barrier
blood pressure
beats per minute
a class of primary afferent neurons
2-p-(2-carboxyethyl)phenylamino-5'-N-
ethylcarboxamidoadenosine hydrochloride
confidence interval
6-cyano-7-nitroquinoxaline-2,3-dione
central nervous system
(2S,3S)-cis-2-(di-phenylmethyl)-N-[(2-methoxyphenyl)-methy
I]-1-azabicyclo[2.2.2]octan-3-amine
N <sup>6</sup> -cyclopentyl adenosine
3-(2-carboxypiperazin-4-yl)-propyl-1-phosphonoic acid
cerebrospinal fluid
y-D-glutamylglycine
dimethyl sulfoxide
8-cyclopentyl-1,3-dipropylxanthine
Dorsal root ganglion

EAA	excitatory amino acid(s)
EDeo	effective dose yielding a 50 percent response
EEG	electroencephalogram(s) / graph(s)
e.q.	exempli gratia (for example)
EPSP	excitatory postsynaptic potential(s)
GABA	v-aminobutyric acid
Glu	olutamate
Gs	stimulatory G-protein
Gi	inhibitory G-protein
HCI	hydrochloric acid
HD	hair deflection
Ha	elemental symbol for mercury
HR	heart rate
Hz	hertz, S <sup>-1</sup> , reciprocal seconds, unit of frequency
IASP	International Association for the study of Pain
i.e.	Id est, that is
in vitro	in glassware
in vivo	in the living body
i.p.	intraperitoneal(ly)
IPSP	inhibitory postsynaptic potential(s)
i.t.	intrathecal(ly)
i.v.	intravenous(ly)
1	Roman numeral one, used to denote spinal lamina
11	Roman numeral two, used to denote spinal lamina
III	Roman numeral three, used to denote spinal lamina
IV	Roman numeral four, used to denote spinal lamina
Ка	affinity constant
KA	kainate
Кра	kilopascal(s), unit of pressure
LI	-like immunoreactivity
L1	lumbar vertebra number 1
L2	lumbar vertebra number 2
M	molar (moles/liter)
MAO-A	monoamine oxidase A type enzyme
MAO-B	monoamine oxidase B type enzyme
MAP	mean arterial pressure
MK-801	(+)-5-methyl-10,11-dihydro-5H-dibenzo (a,d)
	cyclo heptene-5,10-imine maleate
N	number of determinations
NaOH	sodium hydroxide

NBQX	2,3-dihydroxy-6-nitro-7-sulphamoyl-benzo (f) quinoxaline
NECA	5'-N-ethylcarboxamidoadenosine
NK	neurokinin
NMDA	N-methyl-D-aspartate
nmol	nanomole(s), 10 <sup>-9</sup> moles, number of molecules
p	probability of error
PE-10	polyethylene tubing (diameter ~0.61 mm)
PP	paw-pinch
RPIA	R(-)-N <sup>6</sup> -(2-phenylisopropyl)adenosine
S.C.	subcutaneous(ly)
SEM	standard error of the mean
SP	substance P
STR	strychnine
SYN	synchrony
Т	time
WDR	wide dynamic range

## **1** Introduction

## 1.1 Statement of the Research Problem

Injury to the peripheral or central nervous system can effect an abnormal sensory state in which innocuous stimuli acquire the ability to evoke intense pain; a condition known as allodynia. Clinically, allodynic pain is triggered by input from low threshold mechanoreceptive primary afferent neurons (Meyer et al., 1985; Campbell et al., 1988; Price et al., 1989; Treede et al., 1991); that is, by peripheral (Aβ) substrates which normally have no role in pain transduction and transmission. Although the pathophysiological mechanisms of allodynia are unknown, the striking change in modality subserved by  $A\beta$ -fibers after nerve injury, and the apparently limited role of abnormally sensitized C-nociceptors in this condition (Cline et al., 1989) are highly suggestive of a central dysfunction.

Under normal conditions, the synaptic transmission of low threshold afferent input appears to be modulated by glycine and GABA (γ-aminobutyric acid) released from interneurons in the dorsal horn of the spinal cord (Curtis et al., 1968, 1971; Game and Lodge, 1975; Wilcockson et al., 1984; Todd, 1990; Todd and Sullivan, 1990). The loss of such inhibitory modulation, as might occur after nerve injury, could enhance the synaptic efficacy between Aβ-fibers and pain-signalling pathways, thereby permitting the miscoding of low-threshold input as pain.

Consistent with this central hypothesis of allodynia are reports that the intrathecal (it) injection of strychnine (STR: a competitive glycine receptor antagonist) into the spinal subarachnoid space of rodents induces a pure allodynic state. Thus innocuous hair deflection (HD) in the presence (but not absence) of i.t. STR evokes behavioral, cardiovascular, neurochemical and electrophysiological responses comparable to those elicited by noxious thermal, mechanical or chemical stimulation without STR (Bever et al., 1985, 1988; Sosnowski and Yaksh, 1989; Yaksh. 1989: Sherman and Loomis. 1994, 1995, 1996: Milne et al., 1996: Sherman et al. 1996: Onaka et al., 1996). Importantly, these tactile-evoked responses are segmentally localized (Sherman and Loomis, 1995) and exhibit a spinal pharmacology that is distinct from that of conventional nociception (Yaksh, 1989; Sosnowski and Yaksh. 1989: Sherman and Loomis, 1994, 1995, 1996). Indeed. glycine appears to be a selective modulator of non-nociceptive input in the rat spinal cord as i.t. STR neither enhances nor inhibits responses to high threshold cutaneous stimulation (Sherman and Loomis, 1996). Collectively these data indicate that the acute blockade of spinal glycine receptors with i.t. STR yields an abnormal sensory condition having many of the features of clinical allodynia.

Previous pharmacological studies have shown that STR-allodynia is dosedependently inhibited by i.t. excitatory amino acid antagonists including NBQX (2,3dihydroxy-6-nitro-7-sulphamoyl-benzo(f) quinoxaline) and γ-DGG (γ-Dglutamylglycine) and by i.t. glycine or betaine (N,N,N-trimethyl glycine) (Sherman

and Loomis, 1995, 1996) (see Table II, page 22). In contrast, STR-allodynia is insensitive to i.t. morphine, CP-96345 [neurokinin(NK),-receptor antagonist] or neonatal treatment with capsaicin, at doses which are effective against normal nociception (Sherman and Loomis, 1994, 1996). These results indicate that the spinal pharmacology of STR-allodynia is distinct from the nociception normally conveyed by small diameter (Aδ and C) fibers and evoked by high-threshold thermal, chemical or mechanical stimuli (for review see Yaksh and Malmberg, 1994).

The spinal dorsal horn contains the first synaptic contacts between peripheral afferent fibers and the central neurons conveying somatosensory information to the critical sites in the brain. Insight into the spinal processing of somatosensory input could reveal useful information about the mechanism(s) of allodynia as well as identify modulatory systems that could be exploited pharmacologically to offset the abnormal sensations triggered by light tactile input in allodynia. The neural systems implicated in the spinal processing of  $A\beta$ -input are illustrated in Figure 1. To further investigate the spinal pharmacology of STRallodynia, and to explore the neuromodulatory systems affecting low threshold somatosensory input in the spinal cord, the present study sought to systematically determine the effect of GABA, adenosine and glycine in the STR-model. Also, the effect of mexiletine, AP-7 [D(-)-2-amino-7-phosphonoheptanoic acid; an NMDAreceptor antagonist], and milacemide (a glycine prodrug) on STR-allodynia and



Figure 1. Possible neurotransmitters/neuromodulators and their receptor systems implicated in the spinal processing of low-threshold (A)3 afferent input. Glutamate (Glu), aspartate (Asp) and ATP are thought to be released from the central terminals of Aβ-fibers. Normally, extracellular glutamate and aspartate act on AMPA- and kainate-receptors. NIMDA-receptors, although present on second order neurons, are not normally recruited by low-threshold input (but may be important in abnormal low-threshold input). Local inhibitory systems modulating the response to Aβ-input utilize GABA, glycine and adenosine. The latter, including that derived from the extracellular hydrolysis of ATP, can act on  $A_1$ - and/or  $A_2$ -receptors. The postsynaptic effects of these neurotransmitters are well established. The presynaptic effects of glycine and adenosine are less clear and have been omitted for clarity. Although, in the present diagram, adenosine is shown to be

normal nociception (without STR) was compared.

#### 1.2 General Organisation of the Somatosensory System

Sensory systems consist of serial neural pathways linking the periphery with the spinal cord, brain stem, thalamus and cerebral cortex. These pathways are comprised of primary afferent fibers, second order neurons and the third order neurons.

### 1.2.1 Primary Afferent Neurons

Primary afferent neurons carry somatosensory information from the periphery to the spinal cord where they synapse with second order neurons located in the dorsal grey matter. Thus, the first synapse in this neural circuitry is located centrally in the outer laminae of the dorsal horn. Primary afferent fibers found in mixed peripheral nerves are subdivided into three main types; A, B and C. A-fibers are further divided into four sub-groups ( $\alpha$ ,  $\beta$ ,  $\gamma$  and  $\delta$ ) based on their diameter, degree of myelination and corresponding conduction velocity (Table I). These fibers selectively respond to different modalities in accordance with the types of sensory receptors located on their peripheral terminals. Thus, A $\delta$ -fibers are activated primarily by intense mechanical pressure but can also be activated by noxious thermal or chemical stimuli (Kandel and Schwartz, 1991). In contrast, C-

Fiber Type	Innervation	Mean Diameter µm (range)	Mean Conduction Velocity m/sec (range)
Αα	Primary Muscle Spindle To Skeletal Muscles	12 (12-20)	100 (70-120)
β	Cutaneous Touch and Pressure Afferents	8 (5-15)	50 (30-70)
Y	Motor to Muscle Spindle	6 (6-8)	20 (15-30)
δ	Mechanoreceptors, Nocicepto	ors 3 (1-4)	15 (12-30)
в	Sympathetic Preganglionic	3 (1-3)	7 (3-15)
с	Mechanoreceptors, Nocicepto Sympathetic Postganglionic	ors 1 (0.5-1.5)	1 (0.5-2)

Table I. Classification of fibers in peripheral nerves

fibers are primarily activated by noxious chemical, mechanical and thermal stimuli. Psychophysical studies in humans demonstrate that electrical stimulation of Aδfibers evoke a brief pricking or stinging sensation while that evoked by C-fiber stimulation is described as a prolonged burning and unpleasant (Torebjörk and Ochoa, 1980; Konietzny et al., 1981). Stimulation of Aβ-fibers normally evokes light tactile sensations including vibration and mild pressure. These primary afferent fibers enter the spinal cord through the dorsal root entry zone. Large diameter fibers bifurcate centrally with one branch entering the dorsal columns and the second branch penetrating deep into the neck of the dorsal horn where they reverse course and terminate in the nucleus proprius (Figure 2). Small diameter



Afferent axons for pain

Figure 2. Cross section of spinal cord showing the termination of primary afferent fibers in dorsal grey matter. Small diameter fibers terminate directly in the outer laminae of the dorsal horn where they make synaptic contact with the dendrites of second order neurons (I). Large diameter fibers bifurcate centrally with one branch penetrating deep into the neck of the dorsal horn (II) where they reverse course and terminate in the nucleus proprius, and the second branch entering the dorsal columns (III). fibers terminate directly in the outer laminae of the dorsal horn where they make synaptic contact with the dendrites of second order spinothalamic tract neurons (Figure 2) (Kandel and Schwartz, 1991).

# 1.2.2 Second Order Neurons

The primary afferent fibers form the synaptic contacts with second order neurons in the dorsal horn. These are either relay cells, with axons projecting to the brain stem or thalamus, or interneurons that transfer information locally to other interneurons or relay cells in the adjacent segments. Second order neurons are classified into three general types (Besson and Chaouch, 1987; Henry, 1989); 1) non-nociceptive (receiving input from large diameter myelinated fibers), 2) nociceptive specific (those receiving input from C and Ao fibers), and 3) nociceptive non-specific (those receiving convergent input from both nociceptive and nonnociceptive primary afferent fibers). The latter are also known as wide dynamic range (WDR) neurons. WDR neurons show a brisk transient response to lowthreshold mechanical stimuli and a delayed after-discharge in response to noxious stimuli, the latter representing a slow depolarization of the neuron (Henry, 1989). Virtually all sensory information arising from the somatic segment of the body enters the spinal cord through the dorsal root.

# 1.2.3 Excitatory Neurotransmitters and Neuromodulators in Somatosensory Processing in the Spinal Cord

A variety of substances present in primary sensory neurons have been proposed as possible neurotransmitters or neuromodulators. Putative afferent neurotransmitters include: substance P (SP), neurotensin, cholecystokinin, vasoactive intestinal peptide, calcitonin gene related peptide (CGRP), somatostatin, glutamate, aspartate and adenosine triphosphate (ATP) (Besson and Chaouch, 1987; Henry, 1989; Yaksh and Malmberg, 1994), The precise role of many of these substances has not been fully elucidated. Currently, glutamate and aspartate are believed to be the main excitatory neurotransmitters released from all primary afferent fibers (Kanaroa and Randic, 1991; Dougherty et al., 1992). In nociceptive fibers, these excitatory amino acids (EAAs) co-exist with neuropeptides including CGRP and substance P (Battaglia and Rustioni, 1988). ATP has been implicated in the transmission of information from large diameter primary afferent fibers. Its involvement in nociception is also suggested by the depressant effects of adenosine (the product of its hydrolysis) on nociceptive neurons (Henry, 1989).

Synapses of primary afferent and second order neurons are subject to extensive modulation by a number of endogenous systems (Yaksh and Malmberg, 1994). Local inhibition is mediated by glycine, adenosine and GABA (Nagy and Daddona, 1985; Sawynok and Sweeney, 1989; Yaksh and Malmberg, 1994) (see sections 1.4.2, 1.7.1 and 1.7.2). Endogenous opioids, such as enkephalin, are present in spinal interneurons and mediate the local inhibition of nociceptive input (Yaksh and Malmberg, 1994). Nociceptive transmission is also subject to descending inhibitory modulation originating from sites in the pons (e.g. locus coeruleus) and medulla (i.e. nucleus raphe magnus).

# 1.2.4 Ascending Neural Tracts Conveying Sensory Information

There are two main pathways conveying sensory information from the dorsal hom to the brain: 1) the dorsal column-leminiscal system; and 2) the anterolateral system. The dorsal column-leminiscal system conveys touch and vibration sense and is generally characterized by a well defined localization of the stimulus source. The anterolateral system is responsible for conveying pain, thermal sensations including cold and warmth, crude touch and pressure sensations, tickle and itch (Kandel and Schwartz, 1991).

Dorsal column medial leminiscal system: The dorsal column pathway relays somatosensory information directly to the medulla. It is comprised of ascending axons of the large diameter primary afferent fibers and axons of second order neurons originating in the dorsal horn. These axons ascend ipsilateraly to the caudal medulla where they synapse onto the cells in the dorsal column nuclei (cuneate and gracile nuclei). Fibers leaving the dorsal column nuclei arch across the midline where they collect into a discrete bundle (the medial lemniscus) and ascend to the thalamus. From the thalamus, the somatosensory information is conveyed to the anterior parietal lobe by thalamo-cortical neurons.

Anterolateral system: This system is actually composed of two major pathways distinguished by their sites of termination: the spinorhalamic tract and the spinoreticular tract. The spinorhalamic tract originates principally from cells in lamina I. This tract mediates fast pain, relayed from the periphery to the spinal cord by Aδ-fibers. In contrast, the spinoreticular tract principally originates from cells in lamina V. It transmits both nociceptive and non-nociceptive (Aβ-, Aδ- and C-fibers) information and hence cells of this tract are referred to as WDR nociceptors. This tract is important in slow pain. Axons of spinoreticular tract cells end on neurons in the reticular formation of the brain stem, which then relay information rostrally to the thalamus and other structures in the diencephalon. The spinoreticular tract also relays information to the mesencephalic periaqueductal gray, the region surrounding the cerebral aqueduct.

It is evident from this brief description that the processing of somatosensory information is complex, involving several parallel but discrete systems which extend throughout the neuraxis. These systems utilize multiple neurotransmitters and several levels of regulation (spinal, bulbar, thalamic and cortical). Thus, under normal conditions, nociceptive and non-nociceptive sensory information is transmitted through distinct neural circuits, thereby ensuring appropriate interpretation of the sensory stimulus.

#### 1.3 Neuropathic Pain

#### 1.3.1 General Features of Neuropathic Pain

Acute pain arising from tissue injury has an immediate onset, a short duration, temporally coupled to stimulus exposure and is intimately related to changes induced by peripheral inflammation. Physiologically, it is thought to serve an important protective function. In contrast, chronic pain usually has delayed onset and persists long after the time normally required for tissue repair. Intuitively, chronic pain involves more complex events than those of normal nociception and has no apparent biological usefulness. Along with tissue damage and inflammation, chronic pain is often associated with neuropathology. This includes changes in the CNS leading to an increased sensitivity of central neurons; a condition known as central sensitization (Dray et al., 1994).

Neuropathic pain is a chronic condition resulting from traumatic injury to or pathology of the central or peripheral nervous system. Phantom limb pain, multiple sclerosis, central post stroke pain, neuropathies such as those of diabetic, alcoholic, nutritional or traumatic origin, post herpetic neuralgia, trigeminal neuralgia, and reflex sympathetic dystrophy are some examples of neuropathic pain (Bovie et al., 1989; Tasker, 1990; Portenoy et al., 1990; Triggs and Beric, 1992; Woolf, 1993). It is characterized by allodynia, hyperalgesia and spontaneous pain (Price et al., 1989, 1992; Bonica, 1990; Coderre et al., 1993; Galer, 1995). Spontaneous pain is pain felt in the absence of any apparent physiological stimulus. Hyperalgesia is an exaggerated response to a normally painful stimulus and allodynia is a condition in which pain is evoked by a normally non-painful stimuli (e.g. touch, vibration). Additional symptoms may include a partial loss of sensitivity, and the spread of pain to uninjured tissue (referred pain) (Price et al., 1989, 1992; Coderre et al., 1993; Woolf, 1993; Rowbotham, 1995).

Unlike regular pain, neuropathic pain often takes weeks or months to develop following the causative event (Tasker, 1990). For instance, in a group of 127 patients with spinal cord lesions, the onset of pain ranged from a month to more than a year in 79% of the patients (Tasker et al., 1992). Neuropathic pain is commonly described by sufferers as a burning, twisting, ripping, tearing or sharp lancinating type of pain (Price et al., 1992; Woolf, 1993; Gonzales, 1995) and is often unbearably intense. It is difficult to treat and symptoms may last indefinitely (Merskey, 1986). Conventional analgesics like opioids and adjuvant drug therapy such as tricyclic antidepressants, barbiturates or anticonvulsants are only partially or temporarily effective (Bowsher, 1991; Triggs and Beric, 1992; Baron and Saguer, 1993).

The use of opioid analgesics in neuropathic pain is highly controversial (Arner and Mayerson, 1988; Portenoy et al., 1990; Rowbotham et al., 1991; Kupers et al., 1991; Jadad et al., 1992). For example, neuropathic pain following amputation or nerve injury has been shown to be unresponsive to opioids (Arner and Mayerson, 1988). In contrast, patients with malignant neuropathic pain have

shown a shift to the right in the opioid dose-response curve such that an increase in the dose will provide effective pain relief (Portenoy et al., 1990). For patients with a demonstrable sympathetic component (i.e. sympathetically maintained pain), interruption of the sympathetic nervous system with local anaesthetics (Price et al., 1989), sympatholytic drugs or by surgery is the major treatment approach (Woolf, 1993).

Surgical intervention in the periphery is also controversial. Pain relief is usually temporary, often ineffective and may, in some cases worsen the situation (White and Sweet, 1969; Wirth and Rutherford, 1970; Noordenbos and Wall, 1981). Neurolytic procedures or electrical stimulation of the dorsal column or the brain, produce partial relief for intractable pain of spinal cord origin (Tasker et al., 1992). However, these procedures are appropriate only for patients with a severe disabling pain that is refractory to all other treatments. Pain of this type is often associated with a terminal disease and limited life expectancy (Woolf, 1993).

# 1.3.2 Pathophysiology of Neuropathic Pain

Peripheral nerve injury often leads to pathological changes including neural degeneration, neuroma formation, and spontaneous activity in damaged nerve fibers (Coderre et al., 1993). Structural changes within spinal cord, such as the loss of dorsal horn interneurons (Kapadia and La Motte, 1987; Sugimoto et al., 1989), some of which contain GABA and glycine (Todd and Sullivan, 1990), and the

abnormal rearrangement of afferent nerve processes have also been reported. The latter include central sprouting of large afferent fibers from lamina III to lamina II of the dorsal horn, and sprouting of sympathetic nerves into the dorsal root ganglia (Woolf et al., 1992; McLachlan et al., 1993). Functionally, these changes could result in either a reduction in the threshold of activation of nociceptors and/or an increase in the excitability of the central neurons comprising the pain-signalling pathways (e.g. "central sensitization"). Central sensitization is characterized by increased spontaneous activity, decreased threshold of activation or increased responsiveness to afferent input, prolonged after-discharge to repeated stimulation, and an expansion of the receptive field of dorsal horn neurons. These changes would explain, at least in part, the phenomena of hyperalgesia, allodynia and spontaneous pain (Dubner, 1991; Coderre et al., 1993; Woolf, 1993).

The mechanisms underlying the development and maintenance of neuropathic pain are unclear. However, the peripheral substrates triggering allodynia and hyperalgesia are known to be different. Hyperalgesia arises from a decrease in the threshold of activation of nociceptive C-fibers (Shir and Seltzer, 1990; Cline et al., 1989; Lee et al., 1994). In contrast, allodynia is triggered by input from low threshold Aβ-fibers (Meyer et al., 1985; Campbell et al., 1988; Price et al., 1989; Treede et al., 1991); that is, by peripheral substrates that normally have no role in pain transduction and transmission. The striking changes in the modality subserved by Aβ-fibers after nerve injury are highly suggestive of a central dysfunction.

## 1.4 Allodynia

## 1.4.1 Role of AB-fibers in Allodynia

Allodynia, a characteristic feature of neuropathic pain, is an abnormal condition in which light tactile stimuli (i.e. touch or the brush of clothing against the skin) acquire the ability to evoke intense pain. As noted above, allodynic pain is triggered by input from AB-fibers, rather than abnormally sensitized C-fibers (Campbell et al., 1988). Thus selective nerve block using ischemia or nerve compression eliminated both allodynia in the area of nerve injury along with light touch sensation in adjacent normal skin without affecting the temperature discrimination in patients with neuropathic pain suggesting that both sensations were mediated by Aβ-fibers (Campbell et al., 1988; Koltzenburg et al., 1992). Conversely, nerve block with local anesthetics, that affected Ao- and C-fibers (as demonstrated by absence of temperature sensibility in those patients), but not Aßfibers did not block allodynia (Campbell et al., 1988). In addition, response latencies for touch evoked-pain on the affected side were nearly identical to those for the same stimulus applied to the homologous area on the normal side. Both latencies were much faster than the latencies for the detection of pain in the normal limb (Lindblom and Verrillo, 1979; Campbell et al., 1988). These results indicate that allodynic pain is evoked by afferent input conveyed by low threshold Aβ-fibers. In support of this conclusion, high-frequency, low intensity electrical nerve stimulation worsens allodynia, unlike the analgesic effect observed with regular nociceptive pain (Price et al., 1992). Finally the selective destruction of C-fibers in rats using neonatal treatment with capsaicin did not prevent the induction of allodynia following chronic constriction of the sciatic nerve (Shir and Seltzer, 1990). Rather, this treatment blocked the development of thermal hyperalgesia. Overall, these data indicate that Aβ-fibers mediate alldoynia whereas, C- and Aδ-fibers mediate thermal hyperalgesia.

Since under normal conditions, the activity in Aß-fibers is perceived exclusively as touch, light pressure and vibration, the fundamental question arising from the phenomenon of allodynia is how this same neural activity acquires ability to evoke severe pain. One possibility is that inhibitory interneurons normally modulating the response of spinal neurons to low-threshold afferent input may become dysfunctional after injury. Indeed, interneurons containing GABA and glycine are known to be vulnerable to ischemic and excitotoxic damage (Tureen, 1936; Davidoff et al., 1967; Sugimoto et al., 1989, 1990). The functional loss of such inhibition could result in an excessive activation of second order neurons by low-threshold afferent input thereby strengthening the synaptic contact between non-nociceptive fibers and pain-signalling pathways. Thus, Aβ-input could be miscoded as pain.
#### 1.4.2 Role of Spinal Glycinergic Interneurons in Allodynia

GABA and glycine are important in the spinal processing of innocuous tactile information (Yaksh, 1989, 1993), Glycine-like immunoreactivity (-LI), as demonstrated using glycine antisera, is found throughout the gray matter in the spinal cord of the rat (Van den Pol and Grocs, 1988; Todd and Sullivan, 1990), In the dorsal hom, glycine-LI is present in laminae I-IV, but is most densely localized in lamina III and IV (Todd and Sullivan, 1990). These results are consistent with the presence of glycine receptor-LI at axodendritic and axosomatic synapses in laminae I-III and at dendrodendritic synapses in lamina II (Mitchell et al., 1993). Thus, binding and immunocytochemical data indicate that glycine and its corresponding receptors are localized in regions of the dorsal horn containing the central terminations of low-threshold afferent fibers (laminae III-IV). Furthermore, glycinergic neurons in laminae II and III of the rat spinal cord have been shown to receive a major monosynaptic input from myelinated low threshold cutaneous primary afferent fibers (Todd, 1990). Collectively, current anatomical evidence supports the hypothesis that Aβ-fibers activate local glycinergic interneurons in the spinal dorsal horn.

Pharmacological data also substantiate the relevance of glycine to the regulation of the behaviour generated by low-threshold afferent transmission. Light tactile stimuli, typically eliciting no more than an orientation response in rats, evoke overt pain-like behaviours following the blockade of spinal glycine receptors with i.t. STR (Yaksh, 1989). STR exhibits very high affinity (Ka = 3-10 nM) for the glycine receptor (Young and Synder, 1974; Zarbin et al., 1981). This is distinct from the glycine modulatory site located on the NMDA-receptor complex. The latter is insensitive to STR blockade. The data from STR-treated rats are in agreement with studies of single unit activity in the trigeminal nucleus of the monkey. Intravenous (i.v.) STR induced a marked facilitation of the response of WDR neurons to electrical stimulation of low-threshold mechanoreceptive afferent fibers (Yokota et al., 1979). Iontophoretic delivery of STR in the lumbar spinal cord of cats diminished the inhibition phase otherwise observed following natural and electrical stimulation of low-threshold afferent fibers (Game and Lodge, 1975). Conversely, the iontophoretic delivery of glycine in the spinal dorsal horn diminished the responsiveness of dorsal horn neurons to light tactile stimulation (light touch/light pressure), decreased the size of their cutaneous receptive fields in cats (Zieglgänsberger and Hertz, 1971), and reduced the responses of spinothalamic tract neurons, including low-threshold and WDR neurons, in monkeys (Wilcockson et al., 1984).

These observations suggest that the encoding of low-threshold mechanical stimuli as an innocuous event depends upon the presence of intrinsic glycinergic inhibition in the spinal dorsal horn. Indeed, genetic variants, such as the Poll Hereford calf (Gundlach et al., 1988) and the spastic mouse (White and Heller, 1982) which exhibit up to a 10-fold decrease in STR binding in the spinal cord, display exaggerated sensitivity to even modest cutaneous stimulation. Consistent with these animal data are clinical reports of pronounced hypersensitivity to light touch in humans during STR intoxication (Arena, 1979). Thus, glycinergic dysfunction in the spinal dorsal horn could be an important central abnormality in the development of allodynia.

#### 1.4.3 Strychnine-induced Allodynia

Further support for the role of spinal glycine in modulating low-threshold input is provided by the observation that pharmacological blockade of spinal glycine receptors with i.t. STR induces a pure allodynia like state in the rat (Beyer et al., 1985, 1988; Yaksh, 1989). In the presence of STR, innocuous mechanical stimulation such as HD evoked high pitched vocalisation, biting and scratching of the stimulated dermatomes and vigorous organised escape behaviour (Yaksh, 1989). These evoked responses resemble the hyperaesthesia reported by humans during the preconvulsive stages of STR intoxication (Arena, 1979). A striking feature of these responses is that they could be reliably driven by HD applied to circumscribed areas of the body surface. These corresponded to the dermatomes innervated by spinal segments near the site of i.t. STR injection. Similar results were obtained using lightly anaesthetized rats pretreated with i.t. STR. Exaggerated autonomic and motor withdrawal responses to repeated HD, comparable to those evoked by noxious stimuli in the absence of STR, were reported (Yaksh, 1989; Sherman and Loomis, 1994). All HD-evoked responses were observed without convulsions or seizure-like effects and thus did not reflect a general sensitization of spinal neurons by i.t. STR. Subsequent studies in our laboratory have shown that i.t. STR neither enhances nor inhibits responses to noxious bilateral hind paw-pinch or tail immersion in water at 55°C. These results indicate that: a) glycine is a selective modulator of non-nociceptive input in the rat spinal cord; b) the blockade of spinal glycinergic receptors with i.t. STR yields an abnormal sensory condition resembling allodynia; and c) i.t. STR has neither a hyperalgesic nor an antinociceptive effect on normal nociception.

#### 1.4.4 Spinal Pharmacology of Intrathecal Strychnine-induced Allodynia

Clinical studies have shown that allodynic pain is triggered by input from low threshold (non-nociceptive) fibers. Therefore, any valid experimental model of allodynia should exhibit a pharmacology that is distinct from that of normal (C-fiber mediated) nociception. Previous studies of the STR model support this distinction (Table II). For example, chronic treatment of neonatal rats with sub-cutaneous (s.c.) capsaicin at doses that selectively destroyed C-fibers by adulthood and yielded significant antinociception in the paw-pinch (mechanical), tail immersion (thermal) and topical xylene (chemical) tests, had no effect on STR-allodynia (Sherman and Loomis, 1996). Similarly, pain-like responses evoked by HD in STR-treated rats were insensitive to antinociceptive doses of it. morphine and CP-96345

Table II. Comparison of the spinal pharmacology of i.t. strychnine-allodynia

Treatment*	Strychnine- allodynia	Noxious stimulation	References
Agents affecting C-fibers Morphine Capsaicin CP-96345 (NK <sub>1</sub> -antagonist)	- - -	+ + +	Sherman & Loomis, 1994 Sherman & Loomis, 1996 unpublished observations
<i>Glycine or analogue</i> Betaine Glycine	+ +	-	Sherman & Loomis, 1995 Sherman & Loomis, 1995
Excitatory amino acids γ-DGG NBQX	+ +	+ +*	Sherman & Loomis, 1996 Näsström et al., 1992 Sherman & Loomis, 1996 Näsström et al., 1992

and normal nociception (without strychnine)

 $'+' \rightarrow blocks; '-' \rightarrow no effect$ 

- \* All drugs were administered as a single i.t. injection except capsaicin which was given as repeated s.c. injections during the neonatal period.
- a The non-NMDA receptor antagonist CNQX was used instead of NBQX by Näsström et al., 1992.

(a NK<sub>1</sub>-receptor antagonist) (Sherman and Loomis, 1994; unpublished observation). In contrast, i.t. glycine and betaine selectively inhibited STR-allodynia, although their effect on normal nociception was not systematically determined (Beyer et al., 1985, Sherman and Loomis, 1995). These results demonstrate that agents which selectively interfere with the function of C-fibers do not attenuate STR-allodynia in the rat.

Glutamate and aspartate are the principal excitatory neurotransmitters in the CNS (Mayer and Westbrook, 1987; Evans, 1989; Perschak and Cuenod, 1990). and are released from central terminals of both low- and high-threshold afferent fibers of rats and monkeys (Skilling et al., 1988; Liu et al., 1989; Kangroa and Randic, 1991; Sorkin et al., 1992). Indeed, glutamate-LI and aspartate-LI are localized in the dorsal root ganglion (DRG) cells of both large- and small-diameter primary afferent fibers (Wanaka et al., 1987: Battaloia and Rustioni, 1988: Westlund et al., 1989, 1990), as well as in interneurons of the dorsal horn of cats, rats and monkeys (Rizzoli, 1968; Fagg and Foster, 1983; Cottman et al., 1987; Storm-Mathisen and Ottersen, 1987). The intraspinal boutons of cat afferent hair follicle fibers, labelled intra-axonally with horseradish peroxidase, are also enriched with L-olutamate-LI (Maxwell et al., 1993). Consistent with the localization and release of EAAs from both low- and high-threshold afferent fibers, and their putative role in somatosensory transmission. EAA receptor antagonists have been shown to block the excitation of spinothalamic tract neurons by noxious thermal, mechanical, chemical and electrical stimuli in monkeys (Dougherty et al., 1992), and to dose-dependently inhibit STR-allodynia in lightly anesthetized and conscious rats (Table II; Yaksh, 1989, Sherman and Loomis, 1994, 1996). Considering the selective effect of i.t. STR on low-threshold afferent input in the spinal cord (Sherman and Loomis, 1996), and the marked sensitivity of this input to EAA antagonists (Table II), it is possible that the blockade of spinal glycinergic modulation by i.t. STR permits the exaggerated depolarization of second order neurons in pain-signalling pathways by low threshold (Aβ) input, and the miscoding of this input as pain.

# 1.5 Role of Excitatory Amino Acid Receptors in Sensory Processing

The biological actions of EAAs are mediated by at least three subtypes of ionotropic receptors. These receptor subtypes were identified on the basis of their selective responsiveness to the following agonists; α-amino-3-hydroxy-5-methyl-4isoxazole-propionic acid (AMPA), kainate (KA) and N-methyl-D-aspartate (NMDA) (Watkings et al., 1990). Collectively, the AMPA and kainate receptor subtypes are referred to as non-NMDA receptors. While glutamate activates both NMDA and non-NMDA receptors, aspartate is thought to act preferentially at NMDA-receptors (Mayer and Westbrook, 1987; Dickenson, 1990). Non-NMDA receptor-coupled ion channels mediate the fast component of the excitatory post synaptic potential (EPSP). Under physiological conditions, NMDA receptor-coupled ion channels are normally blocked by Mg<sup>2+</sup> in a voltage-dependent manner. The opening of these channels requires a prior depolarising potential, generated primarily by non-NMDA receptors (for review see Ascher and Nowak, 1987). As a result of this prerequisite event for activation, NMDA receptors mediate the slow-component of the EPSP (Headly and Griller, 1990; Watkins et al., 1990).

Intracellular studies using a hemisected rat spinal cord-hind limb preparation demonstrated that the amplitude and duration of the EPSPs elicited by low-intensity (touch; Aβ) or high-intensity (pinch; Aδ and C) mechanical stimuli are blocked by non-NMDA receptor antagonist, CNQX and the cell firing of the dorsal horn cells was completely abolished (King and Lopez-Garcia, 1993). In contrast, the NMDA receptor-antagonist, AP-5 (D-aminophosphonovalerate), blocked only the longer latency spikes elicited by high-intensity cutaneous mechanical stimuli. It never abolished the cell firing produced by such stimuli (King and Lopez-Garcia, 1993) and was ineffective against responses evoked by light touch (King and Lopez-Garcia, 1993). Thus, EAAs released from AB-fibers selectively activate non-NMDA receptors under physiological conditions. In this regard i.t. y-DGG (non-selective EAA-antagonist), and NBQX (a selective AMPA-antagonist) have been shown to block STR-allodynia in lightly anaesthetized rats (Sherman and Loomis, 1994, 1996); observations consistent with the model of synaptic transmission illustrated in Figure 1.

The role of spinal NMDA receptors in normal nociceptive transmission has been extensively investigated. If a brief noxious stimulus, sufficient to activate Cfibers, is repeated at frequency ≥0.3 Hz, the long latency discharge recorded in second order neurons progressively increases in magnitude: a phenomenon called "wind up" (Mendell, 1966; Price, 1978). 'Wind up' is a characteristic feature of Cfiber evoked nociception and is mediated by EAAs acting at post-synaptic NMDAreceptors (Dickenson and Sullivan, 1987). In rats, NMDA receptor antagonists such as ketamine, AP-5, dextromethorphan and levorphanol have been shown to block the slow temporal summation of EPSPs evoked by electrical stimulation of Cafferent fibers ('wind up') without reducing the response of these same neurons to A-fiber stimulation (Davies and Lodge, 1987; Dickenson and Sullivan, 1987; Dickenson et al., 1991). Psychophysical studies in humans have also shown that second pain, a physiological correlate of long-latency C afferent-evoked impulses, is sensitive to NMDA-receptor blockade by dextromethorphan (Price et al., 1994). This phenomenon is believed to underlie the development of central sensitization during sustained nociceptive input (i.e. inflammation). Thus, 'wind up' is a physiological process mediated by NMDA receptors and is normally restricted to noxious (C-fiber) afferent input.

It has recently been suggested that under pathophysiological conditions, Aß afferent impulses may acquire access to the same 'wind up' mechanism, thereby allowing low-threshold fibers to trigger pain (Price et al., 1989; 1994a). Unlike normal subjects, patients with nerve injury exhibit temporal summation to repeated activation of Aß afferents at frequencies ±0.3 Hz, using either natural stimuli such as stroking the skin with a gauze pad or low-threshold electrical stimulation (Price et al., 1989). Subjects reported that the pain evoked by these normally innocuous

stimuli had the same burning quality and tendency to radiate as noxious heat evoked pain. Moreover, subanesthetic doses of ketamine (an NMDA-receptor antagonist) attenuated the pain evoked by low-threshold mechanical stimulation in patients with traumatic spinal cord injury, post-herpetic neuralgia, post-stroke pain and peripheral nerve injury (Backonja et al., 1994; Eide et al., 1994, 1995). Collectively, these observations suggest that a process similar to 'wind up' is activated in allodynia and that this process is sensitive to NMDA-receptor blockade. If, in the presence of i.t. STR, low threshold (Aβ) input acquires access to the same sensitization ('wind up') mechanism normally activated by C-fiber input, then STRinduced allodynia should be blocked by NMDA-receptor antagonists. While NMDA receptor antagonists are known to attenuate tactile-evoked agitation in conscious STR-treated rats (Yaksh, 1989), their dose response effects in the anesthetized STR model have not been determined.

# 1.6 Effects of Local Anaesthetics on Normal Nociception and Neuropathic Pain

Local anaesthetics such as mexiletine, lidocaine and tocainide are known to be effective in the treatment of clinical and experimental neuropathic pain, including allodynia. This includes the treatment of pain arising from peripheral nerve injury, chronic painful diabetic neuropathy, trigeminal neuralgia, causalgia and other chronic pain syndromes which are resistant to conventional drug therapy (Lindstrom and Lindblom, 1987; Dejgard et al., 1988; Chabal et al., 1992; Colclough et al., 1993). Indeed, a sustained analgesic response has been reported weeks after the termination of infusion in humans (Edward et al., 1985, Steinhaus and Howland, 1958; Kastrup et al., 1986). Systemic mexiletine has also been shown to relieve chronic allodynia-like symptoms in rats with ischemic spinal cord injury (Xu et al., 1992) or spinal nerve ligation (Chaplan et al., 1995).

The pharmacological effect of local anaesthetics is normally associated with frequency- and voltage-dependent blockade of Na\* channels, resulting in the nerve conduction block. However, the analgesic effect in patients with neuropathic pain is unlikely to result from simple peripheral conduction block. Local anaesthetics do not block nerve conduction when given systemically in clinically effective analoesic doses (Dejgard et al., 1988; Chabal et al., 1989; Rowbotham et al., 1991). Electrophysiological studies have shown that sub-anesthetic doses of lidocaine and tocainide significantly suppress C-fiber evoked polysynaptic responses of spinal neurons, incompletely reduce reflex activity in hamstring flexor α-motoneurons, and completely blocked reflexes to noxious chemical and thermal stimuli in normal rats (Woolf and Wiesenfeld-Hallin, 1985; DeJong et al., 1969; Dohi et al., 1979). Cfiber evoked 'wind up' is also blocked by i.t. lidocaine in the rat (Fraser et al., 1992). In vitro, subanesthetic concentrations of lidocaine inhibited direct and synaptically driven NMDA- and neurokinin-receptor mediated post-synaptic depolarizations in

28

rat spinal neurons (Nagy and Woolf, 1996). These results indicate that under physiological conditions sub-anesthetic doses of local anesthetics selective block C fiber-evoked activity in the spinal cord.

Mexiletine, an orally active congener of lidocaine, is the most commonly used local anesthetic for clinical neuropathic pain (Hegarty and Portenoy, 1994) and should be effective in any valid experimental model of allodynia. Moreover, if Aß-input acquires access to pain signalling-pathways in the spinal cord, then mexiletine should block both the Aß-evoked responses (in presence of STR) and C-fiber evoked responses (without STR) with comparable potency.

#### 1.7 Inhibitory Modulation in Sensory Processing

#### 1.7.1 Role of Spinal Adenosine

There is a growing body of evidence implicating the role of purines in the spinal modulation of afferent neurotransmission (Sawynok et al., 1986, Delander and Hopkins, 1986). Adenosine , a probable purinergic agonist, is thought to exert its effect at specific purine receptor sites. These receptors are G-protein coupled and are classified on the basis of their ability to inhibit (A<sub>1</sub>-receptor) or stimulate (A<sub>2</sub>-receptor) adenylate cyclase through Gi and Gs proteins, respectively (Van Calker et al., 1979; Marala and Mustafa 1993; Jockers et al., 1994). A<sub>1</sub>-agonists such as LPIA [N<sup>6</sup>. (L-2-phenylisopropyl)-adenosine] or cyclohexyladenosine in the dose

range of 0.5 - 10 µg, and non-selective ( $A_1/A_2$ ) agonists like NECA [5'-(N-ethyl carboxamido)-adenosine] or 2-chloroadenosine in the dose range of 0.5 - 3.6 µg, produced potent analgesia in the tail flick and hot plate tests following i.t. administration (Sawynok et al., 1986; Delander and Hopkins, 1986). Conversely, i.t. adenosine receptor antagonists such as theophylline (11.8 µg) and 8-phenyltheophylline (0.12 µg) attenuated adenosine-induced antinociception (Sawynok et al., 1986; Delander and Hopkins, 1986). Such pharmacological studies have consistently implicated  $A_1$ -, rather than  $A_2$ -receptors in the spinal modulation of nociceptive input (Fastborn et al., 1996; Karlsten et al., 1991; Poon and Sawynok, 1995; Lee and Yaksh, 1996).

That adenosine affects Aβ-evoked responses was first demonstrated by Salter and Henry (1987). They observed that the depressant effect of vibration, applied to the ipsilateral hind limb, on nociceptive (wide dynamic range) neurons in the cat dorsal horn was potentiated by an adenosine uptake inhibitor (dipyridamole, 1.2 mg/kg, i.v.). This inhibitory effect was reversed by caffeine (20 -60 mg/kg, i.v.), and unaffected by naloxone (0.1 - 0.4 mg/kg, i.v.). They proposed that the analgesic effect of vibration in the spinal cord is mediated primarily by purines and may underlie the mechanism of action of transcutaneous electrical nerve stimulation (TENS) in clinical pain management, as predicted by the gate control theory (Melzack and Wall, 1965). TENS activates large diameter primary afferent neurons and produces analgesia in the area affected by such stimulation.

Conversely, in the inherited nervous system disorder known as the Lesh-Nyhan syndrome, affected children show involuntary movements and self-injurious behaviour (e.g. biting of lips and fingers). Patients with this syndrome are known to lack the enzyme, hypoxanthine-guanine phosphoribosyl transferase, thereby reducing the plasma concentration of adenosine. Whether there is a corresponding decrease in the CNS concentration of adenosine is unknown but caffeine does worsen this syndrome (Stone, 1981).

Based on these experimental and clinical observations, adenosine has been used in the management of neuropathic pain. The effect of systemic adenosine on pain symptoms in seven patients with peripheral neuropathy was evaluated in double-blind, placebo-controlled cross-over study (Balfrage et al., 1995). Adenosine (50 µg/kg/min, i.v.) reduced spontaneous pain, allodynia and hyperalgesia whereas placebo had no effect. In other case reports, adenosine (70 µg/kg/min, i.v.) or R-PIA (19 µg, i.t.) alleviated spontaneous pain and touch-evoked allodynia in patients with peripheral neuropathy (Karlsten and Gordh, 1995; Sollevi et al., 1995). Low dose adenosine (70 µg/kg/min, i.v.) has also been shown to effect analgesia in awake healthy volunteers subjected to experimentally-induced ischemic pain (Segerdhal et al., 1994).

Similar results have been obtained from studies using animal models of neuropathic pain. Yamamoto and Yaksh (1991) reported antinociception in thermal hyperalgesia with i.t. NECA (0.01 - 0.3 nmol) in rats subjected to chronic nerve

31

constriction injury (Bennet and Xie, 1988). Intrathecal R-PIA (10 ng) and NECA (5 ng) reduced the pain-like behaviours induced by i.t. prostaglandin  $F_{2\alpha}$  in mice (Minami et al., 1992). LPIA or NECA, in the range of 0.3-1 nmol i.t., dose-dependently inhibited touch-evoked agitation in conscious STR-treated rats (Sosnowski and Yaksh, 1989). Both drugs were equi-potent in STR model and were significantly blocked by i.p. caffeine. The potent inhibitory effect of these adenosine analogues occurred at doses that were only mildly antinociceptive in the hot plate test (Sosnowski and Yaksh, 1989). These results demonstrate the remarkable sensitivity of abnormal pain states to adenosine or related agonists, in both injury and non-injury model of neuropathic pain. However, the receptor subtypes (A<sub>1</sub> versus A<sub>2</sub>) mediating the anti-allodynic effect of adenosine have not been systematically investigated.

#### 1.7.2 Role of Spinal GABA

GABA is densely localized in the spinal cord (Sivilotti and Nistri, 1991; Bohlhalter et al., 1994) where it appears to modulate both nociceptive and nonnociceptive neurotransmission. In case of nociception, GABA<sub>A</sub>-agonists such as muscimol and GABA<sub>8</sub>-agonist like baclofen given i.t. in dose range of 0.1-1 µg, significantly increased the response latency in the tail flick and hot plate tests, and vocalization threshold to tail shock in the rat (Roberts et al., 1986; Hammond and Drower, 1984; Wilson and Yaksh, 1978). Intrathecal baclofen and muscimol (0.3 - flinch response to formaline injection (s.c) in a dose-dependent manner (Diring and Yaksh, 1995). Although these studies did not report any motor dysfunction at antinociceptive doses( 1 µg, i.t.), comparable doses of muscimol and baclofen (>1µg, i.t.) produce muscle flaccidity in rats (Hammond and Drower, 1984, Diring and Yaksh, 1995). Conversely, GABA,-receptor antagonists such as picrotoxin (0.25 µg) and bicuculline (1 µg) decreased nociceptive threshold in the tail-shock and tail-flick tests (Roberts et al., 1986). The i.t. administration of CGP 35348 (30 μg) or phaclophen (100 μg) (GABAs-antagonists) also blocked the antinociceptive effects of glutamate micro-injected into the ventromedial medulla of monkeys (McGowan and Hammond, 1993). These pharmacological data are supported by electrophysiological studies demonstrating the inhibition of glutamate- and pinchevoked activity by GABA, ionophoretically applied onto spinothalamic tract cells in monkeys (Willcockson et al., 1984). In vitro studies using rat spinal cord preparation have shown that Ao-afferent fibers activate GABAergic interneurons which inhibited nearby dorsal horn neurons (Yoshimura and Nishi, 1995). Bath application of musicmol and baclofen also depressed excitatory synaptic transmission (Kangroa et al., 1991; Araki, 1994), Thus, both GABA, and GABA, receptors in the spinal cord appear to mediate the antinociceptive effects of exogenously administered GABA agents.

GABA has also been implicated in the spinal modulation of low-threshold afferent input. Thus, i.t. bicuculline (30 µg) (GABA<sub>x</sub>-antagonist) induced an allodynia-like state in the rat similar to that produced by i.t. STR (Yaksh, 1989). Systemic administration of baclofen (0.1 mg/kg, i.p.), but not muscimol (1mg/kg, i.p.), inhibited allodynia-like behaviours arising 1-4 days after focal spinal cord ischemia in the rat (Hao et al., 1992). Thus, spinal GABA, specifically GABA<sub>x</sub>receptors appears to modulate A<sup>β</sup> transmission in a manner similar to spinal glycine in normal conditions (absence of neural injury); however, in the presence of neural injury, spinal GABA<sub>w</sub>-receptors seem to play a major role in the modulation.

Consistent with this hypothesis is the observation that GABA and glycine are co-localized in interneurons in lamina I-III of the dorsal horn (Mitchell et al., 1993). In fact glycine immunoreactivity in lamina I-III is virtually restricted to neurons that also exhibit GABA immunoreactivity (Todd and Sullivan, 1990) suggesting that the effects of GABA and glycine on synaptic transmission may be complementary. The receptors mediating the distinct effects of glycine and GABA are co-localized on the same post-synaptic membrane (Mitchell et al., 1993; Todd et al., 1996). Finally, these GABA<sub>A</sub>- and glycine-receptors are separately coupled to chloride ion channels leading to increased chloride conductance and neuronal hyperpolarisation.

Recent electrophysiological studies in the rat spinal cord slices have demonstrated that evoked inhibitory post synaptic potentials (IPSP's) consist of two distinct components; a short-duration and long-duration IPSP. Bath application of STR and bicuculline blocked the short- and long-IPSP, respectively. These results

34

suggest that the short IPSP's are mediated by glycine acting at STR-sensitive sites, while the long-IPSP's are mediated by GABA acting at GABA<sub>A</sub>-receptors (Yoshimura and Nishi, 1995). The time course of GABA- and glycine-mediated IPSP's in this study are similar to those previously recorded in motoneurons of cats (Rudomin et al., 1990). If glycine and GABA are released together into the synapse upon stimulation, and if GABA and glycine effect distinct but complementary inhibition of Aβ-input in the spinal cord, then the allodynia arising from the blockade of spinal glycine receptors should be attenuated by the concurrent activation of GABA<sub>k</sub>-, but not GABA<sub>k</sub>-receptors.

#### 1.7.3 Role of Spinal Glycine

The importance of glycine in the processing of Aß input has been extensively discussed (see section 1.4.2). Thus, the disinhibition of spinal glycine by i.t. STR (a competitive glycine antagonist), produces an allodynia-like state in rats, similar to that seen in patients with neuropathic pain. Consistent with the role of STRsensitive glycine receptors in the dysesthetic state is the observation that glycine and betaine (a glycine analogue) inhibited STR-induced allodynia in lightly anesthtized rats (Sherman and Loomis, 1994). However, the charged nature of these molecules at physiological pH required that they be injected directly into the subarachnoid space.

Milacemide (2-n-pentylaminoacetamide) is an orally active glycine pro-drug.

Serum milacemide rapidly enters and equilibrates with the CNS compartment where it is metabolised primarily by MAO-B to glycinamide (Christophe et al., 1983, De Varebeke et al., 1989) and finally to glycine (see Figure 3). Milacemide (100, 200, 400 mg/kg i.p.) dose-dependently increased the concentrations of glycine and glycinamide (intermediary metabolite) in the cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) of the rat (Semba et al., 1993) and remained significantly elevated 7h after administration (400 mg/kg, i.p.) (Semba and Patsalos, 1993; Semba et al., 1993). Serum glycine concentration were unaffected. Clinical studies have confirmed the anticonvulsant, mood elevating, cognitive and memory enhancing properties of milacemide (Van Dorsser et al., 1983: Houtkooper et al., 1986: Saletu et al., 1986: Handelman et al., 1989; Schwartz et al., 1992). In view of the ability of systemic milacemide to increase central glycine concentration (Semba et al., 1993), and given the locus and mechanism of action of STR-allodynia, milacemide is an obvious candidate for testing in the STR model.

#### 1.8 Rationale and Specific Research Objectives

Allodynia, a symptom of clinical neuropathic pain, is a condition in which normally non-nociceptive tactile stimuli acquire the ability to evoke excruciating pain. Although, the neuropathology is unclear, changes in the spinal processing of low-threshold afferent input are strongly suggested. Under normal conditions,





Figure 3. Systemic milacemide readily crosses blood-brain-barrier (BBB) where it is converted to glycine by the action of monoamine oxidase-B (MAO-B). Milacemide rapidly equilibrates between blood and brain. As a substrate for MAO-B, milacemide is first metabolised to glycinamide and subsequently converted to glycine. Milacemide is metabolised primarily in the central rather than the peripheral compartment. While some glycinamide produced in the periphery can cross the blood brain barrier, its contribution to the central concentration is small. (Adapted from Semba et al., 1993) the synaptic transmission of mechanoreceptive Aβ-fibers is modulated by glycinecontaining interneurons in the substantia gelatinosa. Consistent with the concept of a central dysfunction in allodynia is the observation that i.t. STR, (competitive glycine antagonist) produces reversible allodynia in both conscious and lightly anesthetized rats.

Pharmacological studies have shown that STR-allodynia is insensitive to conventional analgesics (morphine, capsaicin and NK<sub>1</sub>-antagonist), but is dosedependently reversed by i.t. glycine and betaine. The latter have no effect on normal nociception at anti-allodynic doses. Thus, STR-allodynia exhibits a spinal pharmacology that is distinct from normal nociception, is qualitatively similar to that of clinical allodynia, and may represent a useful non-injury model for the investigation of allodynia. To further investigate the spinal pharmacology of STRallodynia and to explore the neuromodulatory systems affecting the spinal processing of Aβ transmission (Figure 1), the aim of the present study was to investigate the role of spinal NMDA-, adenosine-, GABA-, and glycine-receptors in lightly anesthetized STR-treated rats.

The specific objectives of this study were:

 To determine the effect of i.t. AP-7 (an NMDA-receptor antagonist) on STRinduced allodynia.

- To compare the effect of i.v. mexiletine on STR-induced allodynia and normal nociception (without STR).
- To compare the effect of i.t. cyclopentyladenosine (A<sub>1</sub>-agonist) and CGS-21680 (A<sub>2</sub>-agonist) on STR-induced allodynia and to determine the sensitivity of their respective effects to pretreatment with i.t. DPCPX (A<sub>1</sub>antagonist).
- To compare the effect of i.t. muscimol (GABA<sub>A</sub>-agonist) and baclofen (GABA<sub>a</sub>-agonist) on STR-induced allodynia.
- To compare the effect of i.v. milacemide (a glycine pro-drug) on STRinduced allodynia and normal nociception (without STR) and to determine the sensitivity of this effect to pretreatment with clorgyline or I-deprenyl.

## 2 Methods

### 2.1 Animals

Male, Sprague-Dawley rats (260 - 490 g at the time of the experiments) were obtained from the Vivarium, Animal Care Services, Memorial University of Newfoundland (St. John's, Canada). Animals were housed in the Animal Care Facility, with a 12-h dark/light cycle (lights on 07:00 h), a room temperature of 22°C, and free access to rat chow and tap water. All experiments were conducted in accordance with the guidelines of the Canadian Council on Animal Care and were approved by the Memorial University Animal Care Committee.

# 2.2 Implantation of Intrathecal Catheters

Anesthesia was induced with 4% halothane (Halocarbon Laboratories, River Edge, USA) in oxygen and maintained at a concentration of 2.0 - 2.5 %. Rats were fitted with i.t. catheters prepared from stretched polyethylene tubing (PE-10) pulled to =1.5 x the original length (Sherman and Loomis, 1994). The catheters were filled with sterile saline (Astra Pharma Inc., Mississauga, Canada), inserted through the cisterna magna into the spinal subarachnoid space, and guided 8.5 cm caudally terminating near the L1-L2 segment. A fixed loop near the rostral end of the catheter was sutured to the overlying muscle to secure the catheter and the incision closed. The rostral tip was externalised on the top of the head and sealed with a

stainless steel plug. Animals with i.t. catheters were then housed individually and permitted to recover for at least 4 days. Only those animals exhibiting normal feeding, drinking and grooming behavior, and having normal gait were used for experimentation.

## 2.3 Acute Anaesthetized Animal Preparation

On the day of the experiment, animals were anesthetized with halothane and the left jugular vein was cannulated. Thereafter, halothane was gradually discontinued and anesthesia was maintained using i.v. urethane (10% w/w in saline, Sigma Chemical Inc., St. Louis, USA). The initial dose of 1.1 g/kg was administered slowly over 10-15 min as the anesthetic effect of halothane declined. Body temperature was maintained at 37°C with a thermostatically-regulated blanket (Harvard Instruments, St. Laurent, Canada). The left carotid artery was cannulated for continuous monitoring of blood pressure and heart rate using a pressure transducer (P23XL) and polygraph (Model 79E, Grass Instruments, Quincy USA). The trachea was also cannulated and the animal was allowed to breathe spontaneously. The incision was then closed and the animal was positioned in a stereotaxic apparatus (Narishige, Tokyo, Japan) with the head firmly secured using ear bars. The incision and the contact points with the ear bars were coated with 2% lidocaine gel (Astra Pharma, Inc.) to reduce the basal sensory input. Cortical EEG was monitored using 2 subcutaneous needle electrodes (E2, Grass instruments) placed 2 mm left of midline, one extending rostrally entering the skin near bregma, the other extending caudally and entering the skin about 2 mm caudal to the first. The animal was then permitted to stabilize for one hour. During this time, anaesthesia was adjusted with i.v. urethane as required.

To ensure reproducible touch-evoked responses in STR-treated rats, a light level of anaesthesia is required (Sherman and Loomis, 1994). A reliable correlation has been observed between the proportion of time that the EEG is "synchronized" and the depth of urethane anaesthesia (Angel et al., 1976; Lincoln et al., 1980). For our purposes, light anaesthesia was defined as the presence of an EEG pattern which fluctuates between high amplitude ("synchronized") and low amplitude ("desynchronized") activity, with high amplitude activity present for not more than 60% of the time. The basis for this cut off in the STR model has been reported previously (Sherman and Loomis, 1994). The level of anaesthesia was also assessed by observing the animal's reflex responses to stimulation.

#### 2.4 Application of Stimuli

The innocuous tactile stimulus was applied in the form of hair deflection (HD). The hair on the legs, flanks and lower back was sequentially brushed with a cotton-tipped applicator using an oscillating motion (rate of 1-2 per sec; 2-min

42

stimulus train applied at 5-min intervals). Oscillating stimuli elicit cardiovascular, motor and neurochemical responses in this model more effectively than stationary ones (Yaksh, 1989; Sherman and Loomis, 1994; Milne et al., 1996). Brushing was done with no more force than required to move the applicator through the hair (hair deflection) such that only the pelage was disturbed. In the absence of spinal STR, this stimulus produced no change in heart rate (HR) or blood pressure (BP) and was not associated with any type of motor withdrawal response. After i.t. STR (40 µg), the same stimulus applied to the affected dermatomes elicited a 15-20 mm Hg increase in mean arterial pressure (MAP), a 15-20 beats/min (bpm) increase in HR, and an abrupt motor withdrawal response (see results).

Noxious mechanical stimulation was performed using bilateral hind paw pinch. Both paws were gripped with hemostats at the post axial border (on the medial surface, distal to the tarsal joint) such that the region of skin covered by each hemostat was ≈20 mm<sup>2</sup>. The force of the pinch was produced by 500 g weights attached to the handles of each hemostat. This resulted in a final pressure on each paw of approximately 0.7 kPa. Withdrawal of the hind paws was prevented until the end of the 10-second stimulus period. In some experiments, noxious chemical stimulation was applied in the form of a s.c. injection (0.05 ml) of 50% mustard oil in each of the hind paws.

#### 2.5 Drug Administration

AP-7 [(+/-)-2-amino-7-phosphonoheptanoic acid]. N<sup>6</sup>-cvclopentvladenosine (CPA), CGS-21680 hydrochloride [2-p-(2carboxyethyl)phenylethylamino-5'-Nethylcarboxamidoadenosine HCI: CGS]. DPCPX (1,3-dipropyl-8cyclopentylxanthine), muscimol hydrobromide, R(+)-baclofen hydrochloride, and clorgyline hydrochloride were obtained from Research Biochemicals International (Natick, USA). Mexiletine hydrochloride [1-methyl-2-(2,6-xylyloxy)-ethylamine hydrochloride; Boehringer Ingelheim Inc., Ingelheim am Rhein, Germany] and milacemide (2-N-pentylamino acetamide; Searl Inc., Skoki, USA) were generously provided by their manufacturers. Tyramine hydrochloride and I-deprenyl hydrochloride were obtained from Aldrich Chemical Company Inc. (Milwaukee, USA). Mustard oil was obtained from Madison. Colman and Bell (East Rutherford. USA).

All drugs were dissolved in 0.9% saline (Astra Pharma, Inc.) except CGS-21680, which was dissolved in a 0.02 M solution of sodium hydroxide (Fisher Scientific Company, Ottawa, Canada), and DPCPX which was dissolved in dimethyl sulfoxide (DMSO; British Drug House, Toronto, Canada). Mustard oil was diluted with an equal volume of 90% alcohol (Fisher Scientific Inc.). Strychnine hemisulphate (Sigma Chemical Company) was administered i.t. in a volume of 4 µl to reduce the rostro-caudal spread in the CSF. All other i.t. injections were made in a volume of 5 µl. Intravenous injections were made in a volume ot exceeding 0.5 ml, and i.p. injections were made in volume of 1 ml. Drug solutions were flushed through i.t and i.v catheter using 10 µl and 1 ml sterile saline, respectively.

#### 2.6 Experimental Protocols

#### 2.6.1 Control Experiment (i.t. vehicle /i.t. STR)

To establish the control responses to STR + HD (in absence of any drug treatment), each rat received i.t. vehicle followed 10 min later by i.t. STR (40 µg) (Figure 4A). This dose of STR elicits optimal allodynia without convulsive activity in lightly anesthetized rats (Sherman and Loomis, 1994). The HD stimulus (2-min duration) was applied at 5-min intervals after vehicle and strychnine injection (Figure 4A). These stimulus trains were repeated until no HD-evoked cardiovascular or motor withdrawal responses were observed (~30 min after STR).

#### 2.6.2 Quantification of Strychnine-induced Allodynia

The HD-EVOKED MAXIMUM increase in blood pressure and heart rate within 30 min of i.t. STR was used for graphical and statistical analysis (see section 2.8). The total period of time following STR injection, during which a motor withdrawal responses could be evoked by HD was also determined. In order to verify that each animal was maintained at an appropriate level of anaesthesia (less than 60% synchrony in the EEG) throughout the experiment, the % synchrony was A. I.t. vehicle / strychnine control (STR control)

i.t. Vehicle (5 µl)		i.t. STR (40 μg)					
0	HD 5	10	HD 15	HD 20	HD 25	HD 30	min

B. General protocol for dose-response experiments

STR control	l.t. l (1 <sup>ST</sup>	Drug dose)	i.t. STR (40 μg)			<u>Ange</u> rsa
0	60	D	75	HD 80	HD 85	90 min
I.t. Drug (2 <sup>ND</sup> dose)	i.t. STR (40 µg)					
180	195	1 <sub>HD</sub>	HD 205	HD 210	HD 215	HD 220 min

Figure 4. Summary of the Strychnine (STR) control protocol (A) and doseresponse protocols (B). All time scales are in minutes. Each hair deflection stimulus (HD) was applied for 2-min using a cotton tip applicator. Following i.t. STR (40 µg), the HD stimulus was repeated every 5 min until the STR effects were no longer detected (~ 30 min) (A, B). One dose of i.t. AP-7, CPA, CGS, muscimol or baclofen was administered 15 min before i.t. STR (B; upper panel). The second dose was administered approximately two hours after the first dose (B; lower panel). Preliminary time-course experiments indicated that a 15-min pretreatment period yielded optimal pharmacological activity for i.t. administration (A). calculated by determining the number of 1-min intervals with a synchronous EEG (determined visually) and expressing this as percentage of the experimental time.

#### 2.6.3 Dose-response analysis for intrathecally administered drugs

For dose-response studies of i.t. AP-7, CPA, CGS, muscimol and baclofen, control responses to STR + HD were first determined in the absence of any drug treatment (see Figure 4A). Approximately one hour later, one dose of the above mentioned drugs was administered i.t. This was followed 15 min later by i.t. STR (40 µg). Hair deflection was then applied at 5-min intervals as described previously (Figure 4B). All animals received multiple drug doses. The order of dosing was from low to high to reduce the possibility of a carry over effect and thus, the recovery time. No more than three doses were administered to the same animal, and no animal received any further drug treatment once the highest dose had been given. Preliminary time-course experiments indicated that a 15-min pretreatment time was optimal for i.t. drug administration and that 1.5 hr between doses was sufficient for complete recovery from even the highest doses. Therefore. subsequent doses were generally given approximately two hours after the previous dose (lower panel of Figure 4B). For AP-7, mexiletine and CPA dose-response studies, the i.t. vehicle/STR control was repeated after each dose to verify complete recovery from the previous dose, and to ensure the reproducibility of STR-allodynia throughout the experiment. For the remaining dose-response experiments, i.t. vehicle/STR control responses were determined once at the onset of the experiment. All animals were killed with an overdose of urethane at the end of the experiment.

## 2.6.4 DPCPX Experiments

The selectivity of i.t. adenosine agonists for  $A_1$ - and  $A_1$ -receptors were determined in a separate group of animals. Control responses to STR + HD were initially established (see Figure 4A). Approximately one hour later, rats were pretreated with i.t. DPCPX (10 µg) followed 10 min later by i.t. CPA (0.2 µg) or CGS (5 µg). STR was administered 15 min after CPA or CGS, and STR-allodynia was quantified as described in section 2.6.2. The effect of CPA (0.2 µg) or CGS (5 µg) alone (no DPCPX) on STR allodynia was also established. Thus, each rat was in all of the following protocols:

- I.t. DMSO (15 µl) / i.t STR (40 µg) (STR control)
- I.t. DPCPX (10 µg) / i.t. CPA (0.2 µg) / i.t. STR
- I.t. DPCPX (10 µg) /i.t. CGS (5 µg) / i.t. STR
- i.t. CPA (0.2 µg) / i.t. STR
- i.t. CGS (5 µg) / i.t. STR

A 1.5-hour recovery period was allowed between protocols (sufficient for the STRresponses to return to the control values). The dose of DPCPX (10 µg) used in this study was selected on the basis of preliminary experiments.

#### 2.6.5 Mexiletine Experiments

Control responses to HD were determined 5 min after the i.t. injection of saline (15 µl, Figure 4A). Ten minutes later, STR (40 µg) was injected i.t. and the HD stimulus was applied at 5-min intervals (i.t. vehicle / STR control, Figure 4A) until all sensory-evoked responses were no longer detectable (~30 min after the STR injection). Approximately 1 h after the first STR injection, control responses to calibrated paw pinch were determined. Animals were then injected with mexiletine (5 or 15 mg/kg i.v., infused slowly over 10 min) and calibrated paw pinch was repeated 5 min after termination of the infusion. When the responses to noxious pinch had normalized (about 1-2 min), i.t. STR (40 µg) was injected and the HD was applied at 5-min intervals for 30 min. Most animals received 2 doses of i.v. mexiletine. Animals were allowed to recover for 2 h after the first mexiletine-STR treatment. Before a second dose of mexiletine (15 or 30 mg/kg i.v.) was given, the STR control was repeated to verify recovery from the initial mexiletine effect, as evidenced by a complete return of the STR control responses.

#### 2.7 Protocols for Milacemide

To establish the time course of activity for each dose of milacemide in STRmodel, milacemide (100, 400 or 600 mg/kg) was injected i.v. and the effect on STRinduced allodynia was followed for four hours. These doses and the 4-h time period were chosen on the basis of preliminary experiments.

#### 2.7.1 Dose-response Study

The general protocol for the dose-response experiments is shown in Figure 5(A). At the onset of the experiment, i.t. vehicle/STR control responses were obtained as described previously (sections 2.6.1-2; Figure 4A). One hour later, one dose of milacemide (100, 400, 600 mg/kg) was slowly infused i.v. over periods of 10 (for 100 mg/kg) -30 min (for 400 and 600 mg/kg). Every hour thereafter, i.t. STR (40 µg) was injected and the responses to HD were determined as described above (sections 2.6.1-2). Due to the short duration of allodynia (<30 min), STR was administered every hour for four hours. Animals were killed with an overdose of urethane at the end of the experiment.

# 2.7.2 Comparison of the Effect of Milacemide on Strychnine-allodynia and Mechanical Nociception

To compare the effect of milacemide (600 mg/kg) on STR-allodynia and mechanical nociception (without STR), HD-evoked responses in presence of i.t. STR (40 µg), and calibrated bilateral hind paw-pinch in absence of STR were determined every hour for four hours following milacemide administration (Figure 5B). Control responses to i.t. vehicle/STR were initially determined (Figure 4A). Approximately one hour later (after the first STR effect had completely abated)

# A. Milacemide dose-response protocol

STR control	milacemide	i.t. STR	i.t. STR	i.t. STR	i.t. STR	
	(i.v.)	(40 μg)	(40 μg)	(40 μg)	(40 μg)	
0	60	HD's	HD's	HD's	HD's	

# B. Effect of milacemide on paw-pinch (PP) and STR-allodynia

STR control	milacemide (600 mg/kg, i.v.)	i.t. STR (40 μg)	i.t. STR (40 μg) ∳	i.t. STR (40 µg) ∳	i.t. STR (40 µg) ∳
	pp	PP HD's	PP HD's	PP HD's	PP HD's
0	55 60	120	180	240	300 min

# C. Effect of MAO-A or -B inhibitor

STR control	-deprenyl	(600 mg/kg, i.v.)	(40 µg)	(40 µg)	(40 µg)	(40 µg) Ty	ramine (i.v.)
	60	180	HD's	HD's	HD's	HD's	

Figure 5. Summary of protocols for the milacemide experiments. All time scales are in minutes. Each hair deflection (HD) stimulus was applied for 2-min using cotton tip applicator (see section 2.4). Following i.t. strychnine (STR; 40  $\mu$ g), the HD stimulus was repeated every 5 min until the STR effects were no longer detected (~ 30 min) (A, B, C). Hind paw-pinch (PP) was applied bilaterally, for 10 sec (B) using calibrated hemostats. STR was injected every hour for four hours following milacemide infusion. Tyramine was given approximately 40 min after the last STR-injection (C). control responses to calibrated paw-pinch were determined. Animals were then injected with milacemide (600 mg/kg i.v., infused slowly over 30 min). STR (40 µg, i.t.) was injected every hour for four hours following the termination of infusion. Hair deflection was applied for 2-min every 5-min interval up to 30 min after each STR injection. Paw-pinch was applied once every hour for four hours following milacemide; this was done 5 min before each i.t. STR injection (Figure 5B).

#### 2.7.3 Clorgyline and L-Deprenyl Experiments

The general protocol for assessing the effects of clorgyline or I-deprenyl on the action of i.v. milacemide is shown in Figure 5C. Intrathecal vehicle/STR control responses were initially determined (Figure 4A). Approximately one hour later, rats were pretreated with clorgyline (10 mg/kg, i.p.; Semba et al., 1993; de Varebeke et al., 1988) or I-deprenyl (3 mg/kg, i.p.; de Varebeke et al., 1988) or I-deprenyl (3 mg/kg, i.p.; de Varebeke et al., 1988; Semba et al., 1993) (Figure 5C). Two hours later, milacemide (600 mg/kg, i.v.) was infused over a period of 30 min. Thereafter, HD-evoked responses in the presence of i.t. STR (40 µg) were determined every hour for four hours. In a separate group of animals, the effect of clorgyline or I-deprenyl on STR-allodynia (no milacemide) was determined every hour for four hours. In a separate group of animals, the effect of clorgyline or I-deprenyl on STR-allodynia (no milacemide) was determined every hour for four hours. To assess the selectivity of inhibition of clorgyline and I-deprenyl for MAO-A and MAO-B, respectively, i.v. tyramine was injected at the end of the experiment (Figure 5C). Doses ranged from 6.7 to 20 mg/kg and cardiovascular responses were recorded.
#### 2.8 Data Analysis

All cardiovascular data are presented as the maximum change in MAP (= systolic blood pressure + 1/3 pulse pressure) and HR evoked by the different sensory stimuli. The change in MAP or HR was determined relative to the immediate (1 min) pre-stimulus control period (not relative to T=0). The maximum of each of these evoked responses, observed within 30 min of i.t. STR, was used for graphical and statistical analysis. For the paw-pinch stimulus, the baseline MAP and HR averaged over 1-min interval preceding stimulus application, was subtracted from the maximum response evoked by the stimulus, and this difference was reported.

With the exception of milacemide, all dose-response data were analysed using regression ANOVA. A modified t-test was used to determine if the regression lines had significant slopes (=1). Variability associated with single measurements is indicated by the standard error of the mean (S.E.M.), while variability associated with blocks of data is indicated by the pooled 95% confidence interval (CI). ED<sub>50</sub> and 95% CI values were determined for all dose-response curves (Figure 7, 10-13, 15, 17). The milacemide time-course data and dose-response data were analysed using one-way ANOVA; significant differences were identified using the Neuman-Keuls test (Figure 16, 17, 19). Statistically significant differences among multiple independent treatment groups (i.e. DPCPX experiments) were also determined using completely randomised one-way ANOVA followed by the Neuman-Keuls test

(Figure 14). The unpaired, two-tailed students t-test was used to the compare the differences between two groups (Figure 18). Methods of data analysis were based on a general text (Tailarida and Murray, 1987).

#### **3 Results**

### 3.1 General Observations Following Intrathecal Strychnine

Stroking the hair on the legs, flanks, and lower back of the lightly anesthetized animal with a cotton tip applicator was without effect in i.t. salinetreated animals (Figure 6A). An identical stimulus applied to rats pretreated with i.t. STR (40 µg) evoked a progressive rise in HR and BP that persisted beyond the duration of the HD stimulus (Figure 6B). These responses were accompanied by an abrupt scratching response near the site of stimulation and/or motor withdrawal, as well as desynchrony of the EEG (Figure 6B). Normalization of the EEG (return to a synchronous pattern), which occurred 2-3 min after the discontinuation of the HD stimulus, coincided with recovery of baseline BP and HR. These cardiovascular and motor responses were only evoked by HD at discrete sites corresponding to dermatomes innervated by spinal segments near the site of STR injection. The time course of these tactile-evoked cardiovascular responses were comparable to those elicited by the intradermal injection of mustard oil into the hind paw (without STR) and were greater in magnitude (Figure 6C). Average control responses to HD in STR-treated rats were 10-15 mm Hg for MAP, 20-25 beats/min for HR and a duration of 15-20 min during which motor withdrawal responses which could be evoked by HD. These appear as the solid horizontal line in each of the doseresponse curves (e.g. Figure 7A-C). The STR effects lasted for approximately 30 min with the peak evoked cardiovascular responses appearing 5 min after i.t. STR





Figure 6. Sample polygraph tracings of arterial blood pressure, heart rate, and cortical EEG illustrating the effect of non-noxious hair deflection in intrathecal (i.t.) saline- and strychnine-treated rats. Hair deflection (HD) to the legs, flank and lower back 5 min after the i.t. injection of saline had little effect on blood pressure, heart rate or EEG (A). The same stimulus applied 5 min after i.t. strychnine (40 µg) evoked a marked and sustained increase in blood pressure and heart rate, and desynchrony of the EEG (B). These evoked responses were localized to dermatomes affected by the i.t. injection of strychnine, and observed without convulsions or spontaneous motor movements. Each large deflection on the time scale (upper trace) indicates 1 min and the horizontal bar below the time trace indicates the application of the HD stimulus. For comparative purposes, the responses evoked by the intradermal injection of mustard oil are shown (C). The heart rate tracing is enlarged for clarity at the bottom of the figure. Arrows indicate the i.t. injection of saline (A), the i.t. injection of strychnine (B) or the intradermal injection of mustard oil into the hind paws (C).

(data not shown).

## 3.2 Effect of AP-7 on Strychnine-allodynia

Pretreatment with i.t. AP-7 (0.2, 1, 5 µg) produced a dose-dependent reduction of all HD-evoked cardiovascular and motor withdrawal responses in STR-treated rats (Figure 7A-C). The corresponding ED<sub>50</sub>s and 95% CIs of AP-7 are summarised in Table III. The ED<sub>50</sub>s ranged from 0.36 - 1.71 µg. The % synchrony of the EEG remained unchanged after AP-7 injection, regardless of the dose (Figure 7D). Baseline HR and arterial blood pressure were also unaffected by AP-7 (data not shown). To compare the spinal effect of AP-7 on STR-allodynia and normal nociception, rats pretreated with i.t. AP-7 received calibrated bilateral hind paw pinch (Without STR). A dose of i.t. AP-7 (5 µg) effecting almost complete blockade of STR-allodynia had no effect on the responses evoked by noxious paw-pinch (Figure 8).

CI
1.82
5.98
2.00

Table III. ED<sub>50</sub>s and 95% C.I. of AP-7

\* AP-7 was injected 15 min before STR.



Figure 7. Intrathecal AP-T dose-dependently suppresses intrathecal strychnine(STR)-allodynia. Following a 15-min pretreatment with i.t. AP-7, responses to hair deflection (HD) were determined in the presence of i.t STR (40 µg). The HD-evoked increase in mean arterial pressure (M.A.P.; A), heart rate (B), the duration for which withdrawal response could be evoked (C) and the % synchrony in the EEG (D) are shown. Each point represents mean  $\pm$  S.E.M. of 4-6 animals. Least squares regression lines and the corresponding 95% CI (dotted lines) are shown. The horizontal solid lines and adjacent dotted lines indicate the mean  $\pm$  5% CI of all STR treatments (N = 14-16) before AP-7.



Figure 8. Sample polygraph tracings of arterial blood pressure, heart rate and cortical EEG illustrating the effect of intrathecal AP-7 on strychnine-allodynia (A) and noxious mechanical hind paw-pinch (B) in the rat. AP-7 (5 µg, i.t.) was injected 15 min before the i.t. injection of strychnine (40 µg). The arrow indicates the injection of strychnine (A). Hair deflection (HD) was applied to the legs, flanks and lower back of the rat 5 min after strychnine. Note the complete blockade of all HD-evoked responses by AP-7 in the strychnine-treated rat. However, identical dose of AP-7 failed to block the noxious paw-pinch evoked responses (B). Each large deflection on the time scale (upper trace) indicates 1 min and the horizontal bar below the time trace indicates the application of stimulus.

# 3.3 Effect of Mexiletine on Strychnine-allodynia and Normal Nociception

Intravenous mexiletine (5, 15 and 30 mg/kg), administered 5 min before i.t. STR, dose-dependently inhibited all the indices of STR-allodynia with EDsos ranging from 13.3 - 16.6 mg/kg (Table IV, upper panel of Figure 9, Figure 10A-C). At 30 mg/kg, there was a small but non-significant increase in % synchrony compared to STR-control (Figure 10D). Nevertheless, this increase was well below the previously established cut-off of 60% synchrony (Sherman and Loomis, 1994). The i.v. injection of mexiletine produced an immediate dose-dependent decrease in baseline BP and HR (i.e. before STR-allodynia). Baseline blood pressure decreased by 10 mm Hg (5 mg/kg) to 20 mm Hg (30 mg/kg); an effect which lasted for approximately 1-2 min. In all cases, blood pressure returned to normal before i.t. STR was injected (data not shown). Baseline HR, which decreased by 30 bpm (5 mg/kg) to 60 bpm (30 mg/kg), was fully recovered 5 min after the injection of mexiletine (5 mg/kg). At higher doses, baseline HR remained partially depressed (~4% of pre-injection values for 15 mg/kg and ~8% for 30 mg/kg) throughout the STR treatment.

The effect of i.v. mexiletine was also determined against noxious paw-pinch using the same experimental animals. Calibrated bilateral hind paw pinch was applied 3 min before the injection of i.t. STR. Mexiletine dose-dependently inhibited pinch-evoked cardiovascular responses (Figure 11A-B), and prevented desynchrony of the EEG (Figure 9, lower panel). All rats receiving 15 mg/kg dose



Figure 9. Sample polygraph tracings of arterial blood pressure, heart rate, and cortical EEG illustrating the effect of intravenous mexiletine on strychnine-allodynia (A) and noxious mechanical hind paw pinch (B) in the rat. Mexiletine (30 mg/kg, i.v.) was injected 5 min before the i.t. injection of strychnine (40 µg). The arrow indicates the injection of strychnine (A). Hair deflection (HD) was applied to the legs, flanks and lower back of the rat 5 min after strychnine. Note the complete blockade of all hair deflection (HD)-evoked responses by mexiletine in the strychnine-treated rat (A) and its inhibitory effect against calibrated bilateral hind paw-pinch without strychnine in the same animal (B). Each large deflection on the time scale (upper trace) indicates 1 min and the horizontal bar below the time trace indicates the application of stimulus.



Figure 10. Intravenous mexiletine dose-dependently suppresses intrathecal strychnine(STR)-allodynia. Following a 5-min pretreatment with i.v. mexiletine, responses to hair deflection (HD) were determined in the presence of i.t. STR (40 µg). The HD-evoked increase in mean arterial pressure (M.A.P.; A), heart rate (B), the duration for which withdrawal response could be evoked (C) and the % synchrony in the EEG (D) are shown. Each point represents mean ± S.E.M. of 4-7 animals. Least squares regression lines and the corresponding 95% CI (dotted lines) are shown. The horizontal solid lines and adjacent dotted lines indicate the mean ± 95% CI of all STR treatments (N=16) before mexiletine.



Figure 11. Intravenous mexiletine dose-dependently suppresses paw-pinch induced responses in absence of strychnine (STR). Following a 5-min pretreatment with i.v. mexiletine, responses to calibrated bilateral hind paw-pinch were determined (without STR). The stimulus evoked increase in M.A.P.(A) and HR (B) are shown. Each point represents the mean ± S.E.M. of 4-5 animals. Least square regression lines and the corresponding 95% CI (dotted lines) are shown. The horizontal solid lines indicate the mean ± 95% CI of all paw-pinch evoked responses (N=16) before mexiletine.

attempted to withdraw their hind paws during noxious stimulation but were prevented from doing so to ensure a consistent noxious mechanical stimulation. No withdrawal attempts were recorded in any of the rats receiving the 30 mg/kg dose. The ED<sub>20</sub>'s of i.v. mexiletine against noxious pinch (without STR) and STRallodynia were very comparable and exhibited narrow 95% CI's (Table IV).

Response	ED <sub>so</sub> (mg/kg)	95% CI
*STR-allodynia:		
MAP	15.70	8.67 - 28.42
Heart Rate	16.60	10.46 - 26.42
Duration of	13.83	9.58 - 19.97
Withdrawal		
Paw-pinch evoked	responses:	
MAP	9.10	6.00 - 13.82
Heart Rate	13.31	9.66 - 18.35

Table IV. ED<sub>so</sub>s and 95% C.I. of i.v. Mexiletine

\* STR was injected 5 min after termination of the mexiletine infusion.

### 3.4 Effects of Adenosine Agonists on Strychnine-allodynia

Pretreatment with i.t. CPA (0.001, 0.05 and 0.1 µg), 15 min before STR, dose-dependently inhibited the HD-evoked rise in BP (Figure 12A), HR (Figure 12B) and motor withdrawal (Figure 12C). Overall, i.t. CPA had no significant effect



Figure 12. Intrathecal CPA dose-dependently suppresses intrathecal strychnine(STR)-allodynia. Following a 15-min pretreatment with i.t. CPA, responses to hair deflection (HD) were determined in the presence of i.t. STR (40 µg). The HD-evoked increase in mean arterial pressure (M.A.P.; A), heart rate (B), the duration for which withdrawal response could be evoked (C) and the % synchrony in the EEG (D) are shown. Each point represents mean ± S.E.M. of 5-6 animals. Least squares regression lines and the corresponding 95% CI (dotted lines) are shown. The horizontal solid lines and adjacent dotted lines indicate the mean ± 95% CI of all STR treatments (N=16) before CPA injection.

on % synchrony of the EEG (Figure 12D). However, the data from two animals receiving 0.05  $\mu$ g and one animal receiving 0.1  $\mu$ g were excluded from the final results as the % synchrony exceeded the 60% cut off. The ED<sub>50</sub> of i.t. CPA ranged from 0.02 - 0.07  $\mu$ g (Table V). The inhibitory effect of i.t. CPA (0.2  $\mu$ g) was blocked by pretreatment with the A<sub>1</sub>-antagonist, DPCPX (10  $\mu$ g i.t.; Figure 13). Interestingly, i.t. DPCPX alone triggered mild spontaneous scratching and HD-evoked withdrawal responses for approximately 5 - 10 minutes after injection in two animals (data not shown).

I.t. CGS also inhibited STR-induced allodynia in a dose-dependent manner (Figure 14). However, doses of 2 - 5  $\mu$ g were required to achieve inhibition comparable to that of i.t. CPA at nearly 1/60 the dose. The ED<sub>50</sub>s of i.t. CGS ranged from 2.7 - 3.1  $\mu$ g (Table V). This anti-allodynic effect was significantly blocked by i.t. DPCPX (Figure 13B). CGS had no detectable effect on level of anesthesia with

Treatment	Response	ED <sub>50</sub> (µg)	95%CI
CPA i.t *	MAP	0.07	0.02 - 0.20
	HR	0.06	0.01 - 0.30
	WD	0.02	0.01 - 0.09
CGS-i.t.*	MAP	3.11	2.50 - 3.86
	HR	2.75	2.09 - 3.61
	WD	2.69	1.81 - 3.98

Table V. ED<sub>so</sub>s and 95% C.I. of CPA or CGS

\* CPA and CGS were injected 15 min before STR.



Figure 13. Inhibition of the anti-allodynic effect of CPA or CGS by pretreatment with intrathecal DPCPX. DPCPX (10  $\mu$ g, i.t.) was administered 10 min before i.t. CPA (0.2  $\mu$ g) or CGS (5  $\mu$ g). STR (40  $\mu$ g, i.t.) was given 15 min later and responses to hair deflection (HD) were determined at 5-min intervals thereafter. The effects of CPA (A) or CGS (B) (in absence and presence of DPCPX) on the HD-evoked increase in mean arterial pressure (M.A.P.), heart rate, duration for which motor withdrawal responses could be evoked (WD) and % synchrony (% SYN) are shown. The solid bar represent the STR-control responses without any drug treatment. Each bar represents mean ± SEM of 6 - 8 animals. (\*p<0.05, \*\*p<0.01)



Figure 14. Intrathecal CGS dose-dependently suppresses intrathecal strychnine(STR)-allodynia. Following a 15-min pretreatment with i.t. CGS, responses to hair deflection (HD) were determined in the presence of i.t. STR (40 µg). The HD-evoked increase in mean arterial pressure (M.A.P.; A), heart rate (B), the duration for which withdrawal response could be evoked (C) and the % synchrony in the EEG (D) are shown. Each point represents mean ± S.E.M. of 5-6 animals. Least squares regression lines and the corresponding 95% CI (dotted lines) are shown. The horizontal solid lines and adjacent dotted lines indicate the mean ± 95% CI of all STR treatments (N=18) before CGS injection.

the % synchrony remaining unchanged at all doses. At a dose of 5 µg, i.t. CGS had no antinociceptive effect against noxious bilateral hind paw pinch (n=2, data not shown).

## 3.5 Effects of GABA Agonists on Strychnine-allodynia

I.t. muscimol (0.1, 0.5, 1 and 2.5 μg), given 15 min before STR (40 μg) injection, dose dependently inhibited all indices of STR-allodynia (Figure 15). This was accomplished without a change in the % synchrony of the EEG, which remained below 60% cut off. The baseline arterial blood pressure and HR were also unaffected by i.t. muscimol (data not shown). The ED<sub>50</sub> and 95% CI for i.t. muscimol are summarised in Table VI.

Treatment	Response	ED <sub>50</sub> (µg)	95% CI
Muscimol i.t.	MAP	0.51	0.37 - 0.72
	HR	0.50	0.34 - 0.74
	WD	0.44	0.32 - 0.61

Table VI. ED<sub>50</sub>s and 95% C.I. of Muscimol\*

\* Muscimol was injected 15 min before STR

In contrast, baclofen (up to 10 µg, i.t.) failed to inhibit STR-induced allodynia (Table VII). Rather there was a trend towards increased cardiovascular responses



Figure 15. Intrathecal muscimol dose-dependently suppresses intrathecal strychnine(STR)-allodynia. Following a 15-min pretreatment with i.t. muscimol, responses to hair deflection (HD) were determined in the presence of i.t. STR (40 ug). The HD-evoked increase in mean arterial pressure (M.A.P.; A), heart rate (B), the duration for which withdrawal response could be evoked (C) and the % synchrony in the EEG (D) are shown. Each point represents mean ± S.E.M. of 5-7 animals. Least squares regression lines and the corresponding 95% CI (dotted lines) are shown. The horizontal solid lines and adjacent dotted lines indicate the mean ± 95% CI of all STR treatments (N=23-24) before muscimol injection.

after i.t. baclofen. However, HD-evoked increase in MAP and HR following baclofen (Table VII) was not significantly different from vehicle-control in STRtreated rats. The withdrawal responses to HD were significantly inhibited by i.t. baclofen (\*p<0.01). Indeed, one rat receiving the 1 µg dose, and all rats receiving ≥5 µg exhibited reversible hind limb paralysis. Thus, HD-evoked motor withdrawal responses were completely abated by high doses of baclofen at a time when cardiovascular responses remained unaffected. The baseline arterial blood pressure and HR were also unaffected by i.t. baclofen.

Treatment	MAP (mm Hg)	HR (beats/min)	WD (min)
Vehicle- control (14)	13.4 ±1.6	20.7 ± 1.9	25 ± 2.0
Baclofen*			
1 µg (3)	22.8 ± 4.9	33.3 ± 13.0	6.7 ± 3.3*
5 µg (4)	25.4 ± 5.0	40 ± 8.4	Absent
10 µg (5)	22.3 ± 4.8	29 ± 9.4	Absent

Table VII. Effect of baclofen on HD-evoked responses in STR-treated rats

\*Baclofen was injected 15-min before STR. Data are expressed as the mean ± SEM of 3-14 animals (N values shown in the brackets) (\*p<0.01). Mean arterial pressure (MAP); heart rate (HR); withdrawal duration (WD).

# 3.6 Effect of Milacemide on Strychnine-allodynia and Normal Nociception

Pretreatment with i v milacemide (400 and 600 mg/kg) significantly inhibited STR-allodynia (Figure 16 and 17) Maximal inhibition was observed 2-3 h after drug administration (Figure 16) The duration of action ranged from 2 h for 400 mg/kg dose to 4 h for 600 mg/kg, and the % synchrony of the EEG was unchanged at all doses throughout the experiment (Figure 16D and 17D). The EDers at the time of maximum inhibition (i.e. 2 h after milacemide infusion) were approximately 400 mo/kg i v (Table VIII) Baseline BP and HR were dose-dependently depressed during milacemide infusion (i.e. before STR-allodynia). Baseline BP decreased by 15 (400 ma/ka) to 25 mm Ha (600 ma/ka) and HR decreased by 25 (400 ma/ka) to 50 bpm (600 mg/kg). For the 400 mg/kg dose, BP and HR return to normal before i.t. STR was injected (i.e. 1 h after milacemide infusion). At 600 mg/kg, BP and HR returned to normal 3 h after infusion, except in two animals where baseline HR and BP remained depressed by approximately 10% and 8% of pre-injection values throughout the experiment.

[Note: Dose-dependent depression of respiration was observed (visual examination) during the first 15-20 min following the termination of milacemide infusion].

In a separate group of animals, responses to noxious hind paw pinch (without STR) and STR-allodynia were recorded every hour for 4 h after milacemide infusion. At the time of maximum inhibition of STR-allodynia (2 h post-infusion),



Figure 16. Intravenous milacemide exerts its maximum effect on intrathecal strychnine(STR)-allodynia two hours after injection without affecting EEG synchrony. Hair deflection (HD)-evoked responses in the presence of i.t. STR (40  $\mu$ g) were determined every hour for four hours after i.v. milacemide (400 mg/kg; approximate ED<sub>50</sub> value). Because of the short duration of allodynia (<30min), i.t. STR was repeated every hour. The maximum evoked increase in mean arterial pressure (M.A.P.; A), heart rate (B), the duration for which a motor withdrawal response could be evoked (C) and the % synchrony in the EEG (D) are shown. Each point represents mean ± SEM of 6-8 animals. The horizontal dotted line is the maximum evoked response to STR (mean ± SEM) in absence of any further treatment (N=24). (#p<0.05, \*\*#p<0.01)



Figure 17. Intravenous milacemide suppresses intrathecal strychnine(STR)allodynia in a dose- and time-dependent manner, without affecting EEG synchrony. Hair deflection (HD)-evoked responses in the presence of i.t. STR (40  $\mu$ g) were measured every hour for hour hours after i.v. milacemide (100, 400 and 600 mg/kg). Dose-response curves for the change in mean arterial pressure (MAP; A), heart rate (B), the duration for which withdrawal responses could be evoked (C) and the % synchrony in the EEG (D) were determined 2h ( $\oplus$  time of maximum effect) and 4h ( $\blacktriangle$ ) after injection. Each point represents the mean ± SEM of 6-8 animals. The horizontal dotted line is the maximum evoked response in STRtreated rats (mean ± SEM) before milacemide (N=24). ( $\ast$ P-0.05, \*\*P-0.01)



Figure 18. Milacemide (600mg/kg, i.v.) significantly inhibits intrathecal strychnine(STR)-allodynia but has no effect on normal mechanical nociception. Hair deflection (HD)-evoked cardiovascular responses in STR-treated rats, and responses to noxious paw-pinch (without STR) were determined in the same animals two hours after intravenous milacemide (600mg/kg) (time of maximum inhibition of STR-allodynia). Noxious hind paw-pinch was applied bilaterally using calibrated hemostats. The maximum evoked increase in mean arterial pressure (MAP; A) and heart rate (B) are presented. The solid bars represent the control responses to HD in STR-treated rats (STR + HD) or noxious paw-pinch (without STR). The hatched bars represent the corresponding response following i.v. milacemide (Mil). Each bar represents mean  $\pm$  SEM of 4 animals. (kp < 0.05)

responses evoked by noxious pinch were unaffected by milacemide (Figure 18).

Treatment	Response	ED <sub>50</sub> ( µg)*	95% CI
Milacemide	MAP	398.3	292.5 - 542.3
	HR	413.2	195.6 - 872.6
	WD	404.5	301.1 - 543.4

Table VIII. EDm and 95% C.I. of milacemide

calculated from dose-response curve determined 2h after milacemide administration

# 3.6.1 Effect of Clorgyline and L-Deprenyl on the Action of Milacemide

The effect of i.v. milacemide (600 mg/kg) on STR-allodynia was determined in a separate group of rats pretreated with either I-deprenyl (specific MAO-B inhibitor) or clorgyline (MAO-A inhibitor). Clorgyline had no effect on milacemide inhibition of STR-allodynia at either 2h or 4h based on HD-evoked changes in MAP (Figure 18A), HR and withdrawal duration (data not shown). In contrast, I-deprenyl significantly blocked the anti-allodynic effect of milacemide for up to 4 hours (Figure 18A). EEG synchrony was unaffected by any treatment, and clorgyline or deprenyl by themselves had no effect on STR-allodynia (data not shown). Tyramine (6.7 mg/kg, i.v.) injected at the end of the experiment, induced an immediate and sustained elevation in arterial blood pressure in clorgyline-treated rats (Figure 18B). Tyramine, up to 20 mg/kg i.v., had no effect on blood pressure in I-deprenyl-treated rats.

# Figure 19. The suppression of strychnine(STR)-allodynia by intravenous milacemide is blocked by I-deprenyl, but not clorgyline.

A. Rats were pre-treated with clorgyline (10 mg/kg, i.p.) or I-deprenyl (3 mg/kg, i.p.) two hours before milacemide (600 mg/kg, i.v.). Hair deflection (HD)-evoked responses in the presence of i.t. STR (40  $\mu$ g) were determined every hour for four hours after milacemide. Because of the short duration of allodynia (<30 min), STR was repeated every hour. The maximum evoked increase in mean arterial pressure (MAP), determined 2h and 4h after milacemide, is presented. The horizontal dotted line represents the maximum response (mean  $\pm$  SEM) in STR-treated rats in absence of any other treatment (N=14). Each bar represents the mean  $\pm$  SEM of 3-5 rats.(4p< 0.05, \*4p<0.01)

B. Tyramine (6.7 mg/kg, i.v.) triggered immediate and sustained increase in arterial blood pressure in clorgyline-treated rats. Even at three times the dose (20 mg/kg, i.v.) tyramine had no effect in rats pre-treated with I-deprenyl.



# 4 Discussion

## 4.1 Strychnine-allodynia

Hair deflection, applied to the dermatomes of rats pretreated with i.t. STR, evoked physiological responses greater than those elicited by the chemical nociceptive agent, mustard oil (see section 4.2). All STR-dependent responses were: a) evoked (not spontaneous); b) observed without convulsions (no generalized disinhibition of spinal neurons); c) only elicited by light brushing of the hair at circumscribed sites corresponding to the spinal segments affected by i.t. STR and d) completely reversible. These data indicate that robust allodynia can be selectively induced with i.t. STR in animals whose somatosensory systems are otherwise normal. They are also consistent with previous studies of STR-allodynia (Beyer et al., 1985, 1988; Yaksh, 1989; Sherman and Loomis, 1994, 1995), many of which used phasic noxious stimuli for comparative purposes, demonstrating that normally innocuous mechanical stimulation acquires nociceptive characteristics during the pharmacological blockade of spinal glycine receptors. Indeed, there is growing evidence that low threshold afferent input activates central nociceptive pathways in the presence of i.t. STR (Milne et al., 1996; Sherman et al., 1996).

# 4.2 Effect of AP-7 on Strychnine-allodynia: role of NMDA receptors

STR-allodynia was dose-dependently inhibited by pretreatment with the

selective NMDA receptor antagonist, AP-7. This effect was not due to a general depression of cardiovascular reflexes as i.t. AP-7 did not alter baseline cardiovascular activity, nor did it inhibit the responses evoked by a phasic noxious pinch. The lack of an effect on cortical EEG synchrony, the i.t. route of administration and the correspondingly low ED<sub>50</sub> values of AP-7 (0.4 - 1.7 µg) are all consistent with a spinal site of action in this study. Normally, spinal NMDA receptors play little or no role in the synaptic transmission of low-threshold (A-fiber) input (Urban et al., 1994). Rather, they are known to mediate the phenomenon of 'wind up' (e.g. the temporal summation of long latency discharges from afferent Cfibers and a characteristic feature of pain) in spinal neurons during repeated highthreshold (C-fiber) stimulation (Dickenson and Sullivan, 1987). Indeed, NMDA receptor antagonists have been shown to block 'wind up' in vivo without affecting the neuronal responses to peripheral A-fiber stimulation (Price et al., 1994). The observation that STR-allodynia is highly sensitive to spinal NMDA receptor blockade suggests that, in the presence of STR, low-threshold afferent input acquires access to a central sensitization mechanism normally restricted to repeated noxious stimulation.

That this sensitization process might be 'wind up' is supported by the temporal pattern of BP and HR responses evoked by tonic brushing of the hair in STR-treated rats. This consisted of a progressive increase in cardiovascular responses during the stimulus train which persisted after the stimulus was discontinued. A similar pattern of HD-evoked neurochemical responses has been observed in the locus coeruleus of STR-treated rats using differential normal pulse voltammetry (Milne et al., 1996). This pattern of evoked responses was matched by the s.c. injection of mustard oil without STR. Mustard oil is a selective activator of C-nociceptors (Woolf and Wall, 1986) that triggers 'wind up' in the rat; an effect blocked by pretreatment with the NMDA antagonist, MK-801 (Woolf and Thompson, 1991). These results, and the recent report that rat dorsal horn neurons exhibit 'wind up' to repeated A-fiber activation following the iontophoretic application of STR (Wilcox et al., 1996), indicate that: a) normally innocuous mechanical stimuli undergo nociceptive-like processing in the spinal cord of the rat during glycine receptor blockade; and b) i.t. STR induces an abnormal pain state in experimental animals consistent with the IASP definition of allodynia.

The present dose-response data for i.t. AP-7 are comparable to those of other NMDA antagonists (MK-801 and AP-5) that inhibited tactile-evoked agitation in conscious STR-treated rats (~  $ED_{eo}s=3 \ \mu$ g) (Yaksh, 1989), and in conscious mice pretreated with i.t. prostaglandin E<sub>2</sub> or F<sub>2α</sub> ( $ED_{eo}=1.6 \ \mu$ g for AP-5, and 0.52  $\mu$ g for MK-801; Minami et al., 1994). The similarity of these data, determined in lightly anesthetized and conscious rats, indicate that: a) the spinal pharmacology of STR-allodynia is unaffected by controlled urethane anesthesia; and b) experimental conditions mitigating many of the ethical issues arising from studies of neuropathic pain in animals can be used reliably in the STR-model.

Previous studies conducted in our laboratory showed that STR-allodynia is inhibited by i.t. γ-DGG and NBQX at doses that do not affect cardiovascular or motor reflexes, or the plane of anesthesia (Sherman and Loomis, 1994, 1996). The sensitivity of STR-allodynia to spinal NMDA and non-NMDA antagonists is in agreement with our current understanding of sensory transmission at the level of the spinal cord (Figure 20), and the hypothesis that allodynia arises from the exaggerated depolarization of spinal neurons in pain pathways by low-threshold afferent input. Hence, agents that negatively modulate such excessive excitatory drive should block STR-allodynia.

## 4.3 Effect of Mexiletine on Strychnine-allodynia and Normal Nociception

Mexiletine, an orally active congener of lidocaine, is the most commonly used local anesthetic for clinical allodynia (Hegarty and Portenoy, 1994) and should be effective in any valid model of allodynia. In the present study, mexiletine dosedependently inhibited STR-allodynia and paw-pinch induced normal nociception (without STR) as determined in the same experimental animals. Importantly, mexiletine was equipotent in inhibiting the responses to normal and abnormal nociceptive input (ED<sub>80</sub>'s = 9.1-17 mg/kg, i.v.). Below 30 mg/kg, this effect was achieved without a change in EEG synchrony (cortical activity reflecting the level of anesthesia) and without affecting motor efferent pathways; the motor withdrawal



Figure 20. Schematic diagram illustrating the postulated role of excitatory amino acid (EAA)-receptor systems and neuromodulatory systems in the spinal processing of low-threshold (AB) afferent input. Glutamate, released from the central terminals of AB-fibers combine with AMPA/kainate-receptors (closed ovals) on both second order neurons and interneurons in the dorsal horn. The latter include excitatory (EAA) and inhibitory [GABA and glycine (Gly)] substrates. Current evidence suggests that post-synaptic NMDA receptors (open square) do not lie adjacent to primary afferent terminals but rather to those of excitatory interneurons (Davies and Watkins, 1983; Evans and Long, 1989; Schouenborg and Sjolund, 1986; Morris, 1989). Thus, glutamate from EAA interneurons is thought to interact with NMDA receptors on the second order neuron (Davies and Watkins, 1983; Evans and Long, 1989; Headley and Grillner, 1990; Yoshimura and Nishi, 1995). The negative modulation of adenosine, GABA and Gly on EAA-mediated transmission is also indicated. For clarity, only the adenosine (A,) receptor (open circle) is shown. Probable sources of adenosine include lowthreshold primary afferents and interneurons (Nagy and Daddona, 1985; Sawynok and Sweeney, 1989) (not shown).

responses to calibrated paw-pinch were preserved in mexiletine-treated rats. At 30 mg/kg or above, motor withdrawal responses were almost absent and EEG synchrony was slightly but non-significantly increased, consistent with the report of sedation, reduced locomotor activity and a slowed righting reflex in conscious rats given a similar dose of mexiletine (Xu et al., 1992).

The mexiletine doses used in the present study are similar to those reported to inhibit allodynia-like symptoms after ischemic spinal cord injury in the rat (Xu et al., 1992). Spinal ischemia was induced photochemically by laser irradiation at midthoracic region immediately after the i.v. administration of Erythrocin B. Allodynialike behaviours developed 6-8 months after irradiation and persisted for at least 4 months. Mexiletine (15 mg/kg and 30 mg/kg, i.p.) significantly inhibited allodynia in these rats for 45-120 min; a duration of action similar to that observed in the STR model. While a direct comparison of mexiletiine in injury vs non-injury (e.g. i.t. STR) models of neuropathic pain will require more extensive and detailed experiments, the present results suggest that chronic spinal cord injury yielding localized allodynia does not display enhanced sensitivity to the anti-allodynic effect of mexiletine when compared to the present pharmacological model. Strychnineallodynia may be useful for estimating the dose-response relationships of local anesthetics in pathological central pain states, and for investigating their central mechanism(s) of action.

Systemic local anesthetics, in doses ranging from 1-25 mg/kg, do not block

conduction in injured or non-injured peripheral nerve fibers (Woolf and Wiesenfeld-Hallin, 1985; Chabal et al., 1989; Tanelian and Maclver, 1991). In the case of mexiletine, i.v. doses of 10-15 mg/kg yield peak serum/plasma concentrations of 1-5 µg/µl in the rat (lowemezie et al., 1991, 1992). These are within the range reported for clinical analgesia and well below the concentration required to block electrical conduction of peripheral Aδ and C-fibers in vitro (>250 µg/ml for lidocaine) (Tanelian and Maclver, 1991). Pain in peripheral neuropathic conditions has been attributed to an abnormal afferent impulse barrage into the CNS from the trapped end of the injured peripheral nerves (neuromas) and from the axotomised sensory cell bodies in dorsal root ganglia (DRG). In turn, peripheral neuromas and their associated DRG's are known to be sensitive targets for local anesthetics in cases of experimental or clinical nerve injury (Wall and Devor, 1983; Chabal et al., 1989; Devor et al., 1992). For example, systemic local anesthetics suppress ectopic neuroma and DRG discharge without blocking initiation or propagation of impulses by electrical stimulation of sciatic nerve in rats with chronic sciatic nerve ligation (Wall and Devor, 1983; Chabal et al., 1989; Devor et al., 1992). However, these targets are not relevant to the STR model as no peripheral injury is induced. Thus, there is no obvious peripheral site(s) of action of mexiletine in STR-treated rats.

In contrast, sub-anesthetic doses of local anesthetics are known to: a) block conventional nociceptive transmission in the spinal cord of cats (DeJong et al., 1969; Dohi et al., 1979), b) depress a C-fiber mediated polysynaptic reflex in the

spinal cord of normal rats without blocking conduction in primary afferent fibers (Woolf and Wiesenfeld-hallin, 1985), c) block C-fiber mediated 'wind up' in rats (Fraser et al., 1992) and d) inhibit both direct and synaptically driven NMDA- and neurokinin-receptor mediated postsynaptic depolarization in the rat spinal neurons (Nagy and Woolf, 1996). In the present study, i.v. mexiletine blocked the responses of both noxious pinch and STR-allodynia with equal potency. These results suggest that mexiletine inhibits both normal and abnormal nociception at a common central site in the pain-signalling pathway. At the very least, a spinal site of action (e.g., spinal nociceptive neurons receiving convergent low- and high-threshold afferent fiber input) is likely given the locus of action of i.t. STR in this model. Such a site would explain the identical inhibitory potency and parallel dose-response curves of i.v. mexiletine against noxious paw-pinch and STR-allodynia. However, supraspinal sites of action cannot be excluded. Electrophysiological experiments will be required to test this hypothesis.

In summary, i.v. mexiletine inhibits STR-allodynia in the anesthetized rat at doses that also block normal nociception. Sub-anesthetic doses of mexiletine can suppress centrally induced allodynia in experimental animals that are devoid of peripheral or central nerve injury. Mexiletine appears to have an important spinal site of action in abnormal pain states. 4.4 Effect of Adenosine Agonists on Strychnine-allodynia: role of A, receptors

The i.v. infusion of adenosine or the i.t. injection of adenosine analogue, LPIA (A,-agonist) has been shown to alleviate spontaneous pain, allodvnia and pinprick hyperalgesia in cases of peripheral nerve injury (Sollevi et al., 1995; Karlsten and Gordh, 1995; Belfrage et al., 1995). Consistent with this effect, CPA (an A,selective agonist) and CGS (an A2-selective agonist) dose-dependently inhibited STR-allodynia. However, the ED<sub>50</sub> of i.t. CGS (2.7-3.1 µg) was approximately 50 times greater than that of CPA (0.02 - 0.07 µg) raising concerns about the selectivity of CGS at spinal A1-receptors in the present study. This was confirmed by the ability of a fixed dose of DPCPX to block the anti-allodynic effect of both CPA and CGS. These data are in agreement with previous reports that the spinal analgesic action of adenosine is selectively mediated by A,-receptors whereas the motor dysfunction induced by spinal adenosine is mediated by A2-receptors (Fastborn et al., 1990; Karlesten et al., 1991; Poon and Sawynok, 1995; Lee and Yaksh, 1996). In this regard, it is important to note that motor withdrawal responses evoked by noxious paw-pinch (without STR) persisted after the i.t. injection of CGS (≤ 5µg) (data not shown). These results indicate that CGS did not adversely affect the motor function in the STR-model.

The  $ED_{so}s$  of CPA in the present study are comparable in order of magnitude to those reported for RPIA and NECA in conscious STR-treated rats ( $ED_{so}s = 0.1$
ug RPIA and NECA: Sosnowski and Yaksh. 1989) and for RPIA (EDen = 0.2 µg) in rats with peripheral nerve injury (chronic ligation of 1.5 and 1.6 spinal nerves distal to DRGs: Kim and Chung model) (Lee and Yaksh, 1996). A similar EDro of CGS (8 ug) was also reported in the spinal nerve ligation model (Lee and Yaksh, 1996). Unlike the present study however, the anti-allodynic effect of CGS in the Kim and Chung model was not blocked by pretreatment with it CPT (a selective A.receptor antagonist). There are several possible explanations for this difference. First, the dose of CGS used in the injury model was rather high (21 µg). Second, 10 µg of DPCPX was used in the present study compared to 3 µg of i.t. CPT. Alternatively, nerve injury may trigger the expression of A2-receptors through which adenosine agonists exert their effects. This apparent difference in the pharmacology of the STR- versus the spinal nerve ligation model could have important implications for the investigation of adenosine agonist and needs to be clarified in future experiments.

The absence of a significant effect on cortical EEG synchrony and the low ED<sub>50</sub> values of CPA and CGS, support a spinal site of action in the present study. Indeed the analgesic action of i.v. adenosine in patients with peripheral nerve injury appears to be mediated by central adenosine receptors as the activation of peripheral adenosine-receptors is known to result in painful symptoms (Belfrage et al., 1995). LPIA and NECA, given i.t. in doses ranging from 0.3 - 1 nmol (doses inhibiting STR-allodynia in conscious rats), also produced dose-dependent antinociception in rats using the hot-plate and tail-flick tests (Sosnowski et al., 1989). Similar doses of i.t. adenosine analogs also inhibited the scratching and biting behaviour evoked by i.t. SP and NMDA; an effect antagonized by theophylline (Delander and Wahl, 1988). These results indicate that the inhibitory effect of adenosine is not restricted to abnormal pain states.

The mechanism(s) by which adenosine modulates sensory processing in the spinal cord is unclear. However, the sensitivity of experimental models of allodynia (both injury and non-injury) to i.t. EAA antagonists and adenosine A<sub>1</sub>-agonists suggests a functional interaction between dorsal horn glutamate- and adenosinesystems. One possibility is that A1-receptors, present on glutamate-containing interneurons, inhibit glutamate release and attenuate EAA-mediated synaptic transmission (see Figure 20). Indeed, recent electrophysiological recordings in spinal cord slices of the hamster have shown that a principal effect of adenosine is to inhibit interneuronal communication in the substantia gelatinosa (Li and Perl, 1994). Superfusion of adenosine (20-100 µg) resulted in the inhibition of all polysynaptic excitatory post-synaptic currents (EPSPs) evoked by dorsal root stimulation. Moreover, binding studies have shown that A<sub>1</sub>- and A<sub>2</sub>-receptors are located primarily on intrinsic neurons in the rat spinal cord (Choca et al., 1988). Although the identity of these neurons was not determined, they could include glutamate-containing interneurons, second-order neurons, or both. A second possibility is that A,-receptors are present on second order neurons which suppress

91

glutamate-evoked depolarization following glutamate release from the central terminals of primary afferent fibers and/or excitatory interneurons. In either case, these postsynaptic mechanisms would counteract the exaggerated excitatory input from low threshold afferent fibers during spinal glycinergic disinhibition.

The pre-synaptic effects of adenosine are suggested by the reports demonstrating the inhibition of glutamate release *in vitro* using brain slice preparations from the hippocampus and dentate gyrus of the rat (Fastboom and Freedlom, 1985; Dolphine and Prestwich, 1985). This effect was abolished by 8-phenyltheophylline (10 µm) suggesting that A<sub>1</sub>-receptors were involved. While a presynaptic effect on primary afferent terminals has been proposed (Li and Perl 1994), immunocytochemical studies failed to detect either A<sub>1</sub> or A<sub>2</sub> receptor-like immunoreactivity on these spinal substrates (Choca et al., 1988). Thus, current evidence supports a postsynaptic inhibitory effect of adenosine (Delander and Wahl 1988; Li and Perl, 1994), presumably on spinal substrates receiving low- and/or high-threshold afferent input. Regardless of the exact mechanism(s), A<sub>1</sub>-receptors appear to be strategically located in the spinal cord to modulate somatosensory input.

# 4.5 Effect of GABA Agonists on Strychnine-allodynia: role of GABA<sub>A</sub> receptors

The results of the present study indicate STR-allodynia is selectively modulated by spinal GABA, receptors. Thus, the i.t. muscimol dose-dependently inhibited STR-allodynia in lightly anesthetized rats. Such an effect on STR-allodynia has not been shown previously but is consistent with reports of allodynia in rats and mice following i.t. bicuculline, a selective GABA, antagonist (Yaksh, 1989; Onaka et al., 1996; unpublished results). That this represented a selective spinal site of action is indicated by the lack of the effect on cortical EEG synchrony and the low ED<sub>so</sub> values (0.4 - 0.5 µg). In contrast, i.t. baclofen failed to suppress the abnormal responses to HD in presence of STR, even at doses which produced pronounced motor dysfunction. These data are in agreement with a previous report demonstrating the lack of effect of baclofen against STR-allodynia in conscious rats (Yaksh, 1989) and electrophysiological data demonstrating the lack of effect of intra-arterial CGP 35348 (60 mg/kg) on the spontaneous activity of hamstring flexor a-motoneurons, touch evoked-responses or touch threshold in the spinal cord of the rat (Sivilotti and Woolf, 1994).

The present results are not surprising given the fact that a) GABA<sub>A</sub> and glycine receptors independently open chloride channels to hyperpolarize neurons (Bormann et al., 1987; Cohen et al., 1989); b) GABA<sub>A</sub> and glycine receptors are cocontained on the same postsynaptic membrane in the spinal dorsal horn (Todd et al., 1996) consistent with the co-localization of glycine and GABA in the same presynaptic axons (Todd et al., 1996); and c) glycine immunoreactivity is virtually restricted to neurons that also exhibit GABA immunoreactivity in the laminae I-III of the dorsal horn (Todd, 1990; Mitchell et al., 1993). Glycine interneurons receive a major monosynaptic input from large diameter myelinated primary afferents in laminae II and III. These anatomical studies provide evidence for the neuronal circuitry by which glycine and GABA might normally modulate non-nociceptive transmission. They also suggest that GABA and glycine, co-released from the same interneurons might effect discrete but complementary inhibition of relevant spinal neurons. Indeed, electrophysiological studies using spinal cord slices from the rat and cat have shown that GABA,- and glycine-mediated inhibition have a distinct time-course (Game and Lodge, 1975; Baba et al., 1994; Yoshimura and Nishi, 1995). The long and short IPSP, generated in substantia gelatinosa by stimulation of Aδ-fibers was blocked by bicuculline and STR, respectively (Yoshimura and Nishi, 1995). The bicuculline-sensitive IPSP was up to 3 times slower than that of STR-sensitive inhibition reflecting the different kinetics of GABA,- and glycinereceptors, or a different time course of the neurotransmitter uptake. It has been suggested that the STR sensitive IPSP may be important in limiting the firing of the neurons and curtailing the amplitude and the ability of the EPSP to generate an action potential. In contrast, the bicuculline sensitive IPSP which develops more slowly and has a longer duration may be effective in preventing longer lasting

repetitive activation (Yoshimura and Nishi, 1995). While the exact role and significance of glycine- and GABA-inhibition remains to be determined, the apparently complementary effects of glycine and GABA on somatosensory input are consistent with the inhibition of STR-allodynia by i.t. GABA<sub>A</sub> agonists. Indeed, one would expect glycine or GABA (acting at GABA<sub>A</sub>-receptors), to attenuate the exaggerated firing evoked by Aβ-input in presence of STR.

The role of GABA<sub>B</sub>-receptors in the modulation of low-threshold afferent transmission is controversial. The failure of i.t. baclofen to inhibit STR-allodynia in the present experiment suggests that, in absence of nerve injury, spinal GABAsreceptors do not contribute significantly to such modulation. However, i.p. baclofen (but not muscimol) inhibited touch-evoked allodynia following focal spinal cord ischemia in the rat (Hao et al., 1992); an effect attributed to the activation of GABAs-receptors present on the spinal terminals of AB-fibers. Baclofen also reduced the hypersensitivity of spinal WDR neurons to low-intensity mechanical and electrical stimulation in rats with spinal cord ischemia (Hao et al., 1992). The ability of baclofen to effect such changes in this ischemic model may represent an up-regulation of GABA<sub>e</sub>-receptors in response to central injury and/or altered synaptic connections. Although GABA<sub>B</sub> binding sites have been reported on the terminals of large diameter primary afferent fibers in lamina IV of normal rats (Price et al., 1987), GABA -receptors may not become functionally active until after central nerve injury. These data also suggest that the STR model is relevant for investigating the somatosensory processing but may not reflect upon the altered pharmacology induced by nerve injury.

### 4.6 Effect of Milacemide on Strychnine-allodynia: role of glycine receptors

Systemic administration of the glycine prodrug, milacemide dosedependently inhibited STR-allodynia for up to 4 hours. The time course of this effect corresponds to the increase in glycine concentration in the CSF of rats treated with milacemide (400 mg/kg, i.p.) (Semba et al., 1993). The peak inhibition of STRallodynia and the maximum increase in [glycine]<sub>CSF</sub> were achieved 2-3 h after mialcemide administration. That the blockade of STR-allodynia was due to glycine and not milacemide itself was confirmed by the dependency of this effect on MAO-B. Thus, pre-treatment with I-deprenyl, but not clorgyline, significantly blocked the anti-allodynic effect of milacemide.

There is strong pharmacokinetic and biochemical evidence that serum milacemide rapidly enters and equilibrates in the CNS compartment where it is metabolized by MAO-B (Semba and Patsalos, 1993; Semba et al., 1993). In fact, over 90% of the milacemide dose is metabolized by MAO-B to glycinamide and finally glycine (Figure 3). The remaining 10% is metabolized by different routes depending on the species. In support of this metabolic route, and consistent with the results of the present study, pretreatment with I-deprenyl (2 mg/kg, i.p.) inhibited: a) the conversion of milacemide to glycine *in vivo*; and b) the ability of milacemide to increase the seizure threshold induced by hyperbaric oxygen in rats (Yodium et al., 1988). Indeed, pretreatment with I-deprenyl (2 mg/kg, i.p.) almost completely blocked the formation of glycinamide, and increased milacemide accumulation in rat CSF (Semba et al., 1993). Pretreatment with clorgyline (5 mg/kg, i.p.) yielded only a moderate decrease in glycinamide concentration (Semba et al., 1993).

The ability of glycine, derived from milacemide through the action of MAO-B, to inhibit STR-allodynia is supported by previous work in our laboratory. Glycine or betaine (N,N,N-trimethyl glycine) injected directly into the spinal subarachnoid space of the rat, dose-dependently inhibited STR-allodynia (Sherman and Loomis, 1995). Moreover, i.v. milacemide had no significant effect on normal nociception (phasic noxious paw-pinch without STR) in the present study. The persistence of these noxious-evoked responses indicates that cardiovascular efferent fibers were unaffected by i.v. milacemide, and that the suppresion of cardiovascular responses to HD in the STR model represented a true anti-allodynic effect. These results also support the hypothesis that glycine is a selective modulator of non-noxious somatosensory input in the spinal cord of the rat.

In addition to the STR-sensitive glycine receptor, glycine is also known to bind to a STR-insensitive co-agonist site on the NMDA-receptor complex. In the case of the latter, glycine augments the excitatory effects of NMDA (Rosse et al.,

97

1991). Considering the sensitivity of STR-allodynia to NMDA antagonists (see section 4.2), the potentiation of NMDA-receptor mediated depolarization by glycine would be expected to worsen the allodynia. We observed no evidence of this in the present study, but subtle changes in NMDA neurotransmission are unlikely to be detected using cardiovascular and motor end-points. Such an outcome will require more sensitive electrophysiological techniques. Nevertheless, the primary effect of milacemide in STR-allodynia was inhibitory. In this regard, it has been suggested that the accumulation of unmetabolized milacemide following high-dose administration may antagonize the possible enhancement of NMDA-mediated transmission by glycine (Rosse et al., 1991).

Besides glycine, systemic milacemide (400 mg/kg, i.p.) is known to increase the concentration of serine and taurine in rat CSF by 20-25% and to decrease alanine concentration by an equal percentage (Semba and Patsalos, 1993). GABA and glutamine concentrations in the CSF were unchanged. The relevance of the decrease in alanine concentration, if any, is not yet known, but a significant increase in taurine and serine concentration could be of importance to the effect of milacemide in the STR model. Taurine, alanine, and serine are agonists at the STR-sensitive glycine receptor having the following order of potency: glycine >> $\beta$ alanine > taurine > L-serine (Pan and Slaughter, 1995). Taurine is also shown to act on GABA<sub>A</sub> receptors in the cerebral cortex ( Pan and Slaughter, 1995) but such effect has not yet been shown in the spinal cord. The comparatively

98

small increase in serine and taurine concentration (20-25% versus 75-80% for glycine), their lower affinity for the glycine receptor compared to glycine, and the lack of evidence for distinct taurine and serine receptors suggest that the reported changes in serine and taurine concentrations are unlikely to play a major role in the anti-allodynic effect of milacemide. Nevertheless, their contribution cannot be excluded at the present time.

Like I-deprenyl, milacemide is also a selective inhibitor of MAO-B, both in vivo and in vitro (de Varebeke et al., 1989; O'Brien et al., 1994). Ten hours after a single injection of milacemide (500 mg/kg, i.p.) to the rat, the MAO-B activity in the brain was reduced to approximately 40% of control. This activity was significantly but incompletely recovered (approximately 75% of control) 40 hours after milacemide administration. As a result of this effect on MAO-B, milacemide is selflimiting during long term therapy. In the present study, only one dose of milacemide was injected per animal to avoid the complications of residual enzyme inhibition and thus a decrease in glycine production with subsequent doses. The eventual inhibition of MAO-B by milacemide, and thus the possible progressive decrease in the vield of glycine, may explain the use of such high doses of the prodrug in vivo to achieve a pharmacological effect. Clearly, glycine prodrugs that lack such enzyme inhibitory activity would be preferable for chronic use. While the present study investigated the acute effects of milacemide in the STR model, these data indicate the effectiveness of a systemically administered glycine prodrug in attenuating abnormal sensitivity to low-threshold afferent input arising in the spinal cord. To the extent that the loss of spinal glycinergic modulation might underlie clinical allodynia, this pharmacological approach may be worth investigating, particularly in patients who respond poorly to current therapy.

#### 4.7 Future Directions

From an experimental point of view, the STR model affords some unique advantages. First, STR-allodvnia is reversible, making it possible to test drugs under normal and abnormal (it strychnine) nociceptive conditions in the same animal. Second, it is highly reproducible (with repeated STR injection) allowing for quantitative dose-response analysis (as indicated by the narrow 95% confidence intervals in Tables III-VI, VIII). Finally, it is centrally induced, of known cause, and achieved without injury to the peripheral or central nervous system, thereby allowing certain conclusions to be made about the site, and to a lesser extent, the mechanisms of drug action. However, the experiments that can be undertaken are limited by the short duration of allodynia (peak effect is approximately 5 min after STR injection; duration of 20-30 min). It is not possible to test the chronic effects of glycinergic dysfunction using this model or the long term effectiveness of pharmacological interventions known to inhibit STR-allodvnia. Although the pharmacology of STR-allodynia mimics, gualitatively, that observed in humans, it is not yet known whether the loss of glycinergic modulation underlies clinical allodynia. Therefore, further investigation is required to test this hypothesis. One possible way to induce a more prolonged yet reversible glycinergic dysfunction is to "knock out" spinal glycine receptors using antisense oligonucleotides. Such a model might prove useful to supplement and extend the information determined in the STR model.

The interaction between glycine and GABA in modulating low-threshold afferent input, and the consequences of simultaneous dysfunction of both inhibitory inputs in the development of allodynia have not yet been investigated. Given their known co-localization in spinal interneurons, a more realistic model of spinal disinhibition and allodynia must take into account, the complementary role played by these inhibitory amino acids. This could be achieved initially by co-administering i.t. GABA and glycine-antagonists. However, longer term spinal glycinergic and GABAergic dysfunction would require a different approach, possibly using appropriate antisense oligoneuclotides.

#### 4.7 Summary

Increased spinal glutamatergic tone has been shown to yield a state of facilitated transmission of both low- and high-intensity stimuli (Dougherty et al., 1992). Of the glutamate receptor family, spinal NMDA-receptors are especially important as these receptors mediate long lasting depolarisation including the phenomenon of 'wind up'. Such augmentation appears to be an important spinal mechanism underlying the condition of allodynia and hyperalgesia (Yaksh and Malmberg, 1994). Moreover, interventions that counteract such exaggerated neurotransmission in the spinal cord should alleviate these sensory events and provide pain relief. The present research demonstrates that the abnormal responses evoked by input from low-threshold mechanoreceptive afferents in presence of spinal STR are indeed sensitive to NMDA-receptor blockade, to i.t. glycine-, GABA- and adenosine-agonists and to sub-anesthetic doses of mexiletine. The evidence obtained in this study supports the following conclusions:

- Glycine is a selective modulator of non-noxious somatosensory input in the spinal cord of the rat.
- 2 In the presence of i.t. STR, low threshold afferent input accesses a spinal sensitisation mechanism normally activated by nociceptive fibers.
- 3 Mexiletine inhibits both abnormal (STR-allodynia) and normal nociception at a common site, most likely dorsal horn cells receiving convergent Aβ- and C-fiber input.
- 4 The recruitment of neuromodulatory systems involving spinal adenosine A<sub>1</sub> and GABA<sub>A</sub> receptors blocks the abnormal sensory responses of allodynia following glycinoceptor blockade in the spinal cord.
- 5 Increasing central glycine concentration by means of a systemic glycine

prodrug (milacemide) is effective in blocking STR-allodynia.

- 6 The spinal pharmacology of STR-allodynia is distinct from that of normal nocception, and is similar to that currently understood in clinical allodynia.
- 7 STR-allodynia is a useful, acute, non-injury model for the investigation of this abnormal pain state.

## **5** References

Angel A., Dodd J. and Gray J.D. Fluctuating anesthetic state in the rat anesthetized with urethane. J Physiol. (Lond.) 259 (1976) 11-12P

Araki I. Inhibitory postsynaptic currents and the effects of GABA on visually identified sacral parasympathetic preganglionic neurons in neonatal rats. J Neurophysiol. 72 (1994) 2903-10

Arena J.M. Poisoning: Toxicology, symptoms, treatments, 4th Edn. Charles C. Thomas pub. Springfield IL (1979) pp 177-79

Arner S. and Meyerson B.A. Lack of analgesic effect of opioids on neuropathic and idiopathic form of pain. Pain 33 (1988) 11-23

Ascher P. and Nowak L. Electrophysiological studies of NMDA receptors. TINS 10 (1987) 284-88

Baba H., Yoshimura M., Nishi S. and Shimoji K. Synaptic responses of substantia gelatinosa neurons to dorsal column stimulation in rat spinal cord in vitro. J Physiol. 478 (1994) 87-99

Backonja M., Arndt G., Gombar K., Check B. and Zimmermann M. Response of chronic neuropathic pain syndromes to ketamine: a preliminary study. Pain 56 (1994) 51-57.

Baron R and Saguer M. Postherpetic neuralgia. Are C-nociceptors involved in signalling and maintenance of tactile allodynia? Brain 116 (1993) 1477-96

Battagli G. and Rustioni A. Coexistance of glutamate and substance P in dorsal root ganglion neurons of the rat and monkey. J Comp Neurol 277 (1988) 302-12

Belfrage M., Sollevi A., Segerdahl M., Sjolund K. and Hansson P. Systemic adenosine infusion alleviates spontaneous and stimulus evoked pain in patients with peripheral neuropathic pain. Anesth. Analg. 81 (1995) 713-7

Bennett G.J. and Xie Y-K. A peripheral mononeuropathy in rats that produced disorders of pain sensation like those seen in man. Pain 33 (1988) 87-107

Besson J.M. and Chaouch A. Peripheral and spinal mechanism of nociception. Pharmacol. Rev. 67 (1987) 67-186 Beyer C., Roberts L.A. and Komisruk B.R. Hyperalgesia induced by altered glycinergic activity at the spinal cord. Life Sci. 37 (1985) 875-82.

Beyer C., Banas C., Gomora P. and Komisruk B.R. Prevention of the convulsant and hyperalgesic action of strychnine by intrathecal glycine and related amino acids. Pharmacol. Biochem. Behav. 29 (1988) 73-78

Bohlhalter S., Mohler H. and Fritschy J-M. Inhibitory neurotransmission in the rat spinal cord: co-localization of glycine and GABA<sub>x</sub>-receptors at GABAergic synaptic contacts demonstrated by triple immunofluorescence staining. Brain Res. 642 (1994) 59-69

Boivie J., Leijon G. and Johansson I., Central post stroke pain: Study of the mechanisms through analysis of the sensory abnormalities. Pain 37 (1989) 173-85.

Bonica J.J. Causalgia and other sympathetic dystrophies. In J.J. Bonica (Ed.) The Management of Pain. Lea and Febiger Philadelphia PA (1990) 220-43

Bormann J., Hamill O.P. and Sakmann B. Mechanism of anion permeation through channels gated by glycine and v-aminbutyric acid in mouse cultured spinal neurons J Physiol. Lond. 276 (1987) 243-86

Bowsher D. Neurogenic pain syndroms and their management. Brit. Med. Bull. 47 (1991) 644-66

Campbell N.J., Raja N.S., Meyer A.R. and Makinnon E.S. Myelinated afferents signal hyperalgesia associated with nerve injury. Pain 32 (1988) 89-94

Chabal C., Russell L. and Burchiel K.J. The effect of intravenous lidocaine, tocainide and mexiletine on spontaneously active fibers originating in rat sciatic neuromas. Pain 38 (1989) 333-38

Chabal C., Jacobson L., Mariano A., Chaney E. and Britell W.C. The use of oral mexiletine for the treatment of pain after peripheral nerve injury. Anesthesiology 76 (1992) 513-17.

Chaplan S.R., Bach F.W., Shafer S.L. and Yaksh T.L. Prolonged alleviation of tactile allodynia by intravenous lidocaine in neuropathic rats. Anesthesiology 83 (1995) 775-85

Chocoa J.I., Green R.D. and Proudfit H.K. Adenosine A1 and A2 receptors of the

substantia gelatinosa are located predominantly on the intrinsic neurons: an autoradiograph study. J Pharmacol. Exp. Ther. 247 (1988) 757-64

Christophe, Kutzner J.R., Nguyen-Bui W.D., Damien C., Chatelain P. and Gillet L. Conversion of orally administered 2-n-pentylaminoacetamide into glycinamide and glycine in the rat brain. Life Science 33 (1983) 533

Cline M.A., Ochoa J and Torebjörk H.E. Chronic hyperalgesia and skin warming caused by sensitized C nociceptors. Brain 112 (1989) 621-47

Coderre T.J., Katz J., Vaccarino L.A. and Melzack R. Contribution of central neuroplasticity to pathological pain: review of clinical and experimental evidence. Pain 52 (1993) 259-85

Cohen B.N., Fain G.L. and Fain M.J. GABA and glycine channels in isolated ganglion cells from the goldfish retina. J Physiol. 417 (1989) 53-82

Colclough G., Carter A. and Ackerman III W.E. Mexiletine for chronic pain. The Lancet 342 (1993) 1484-85

Cotman C.W., Monaghan D.T., Ottersen O.P. and Strom-Mathisen J. Anatomical organisation of excitatory amino acid receptors and their pathways. Trends Neurosci. 10 (1987) 273-280

Curtis D.R., Hösli L. and Johnston G.A.R. A pharmacological study of the depression of spinal neurons by glycine and related amino acids. Exp. Brain Res. 6 (1968) 1-18

Curtis D.R., Duggan A.W. and Johnston G.A.R. The specificity of strychnine as glycine antagonist in the mammalian spinal cord Exp. Brain Res. 12 (1971) 547-65

Davidoff R.A., Graham L.T. Jr., Shank R.P., Werman R. and Aprison M.H. Changes in amino acid concentrations associated with loss of spinal interneurons. J Neurochem. 14 (1967) 1025-31

Davies J and Watkins J.C. Role of excitatory amino acid receptors in mono and polysynaptic excitation in the cat spinal cord. Exp. Brain Res. 49 (1983) 280-90

Davies S.N. and Lodge D. Evidence for involvement of NMDA receptors in wind up of class II neurons in the dorsal horn of the rat. Brain Res. 424 (1987) 402-406 De Jong R.H., Robles R. and Corbin R.W. Central actions of lidocaine: Synaptic transmission. Anesthesiology 30(1969) 19-23

Dejgard A, Petersen P. and Kastrup J. Mexiletine for treatment of chronic painful diabetic neuropathy. The Lancet 29 (1988) 9-11.

Delander G.E. and Hopkins C.J. Spinal adenosine modulates descending antinociceptive pathways stimulated by morphine. J Pharmacol. Exp. Ther. 239 (1966) 88-93

Delander G.E. and Wahl J.J. Behaviour induced by putative nociceptive neurotransmitters is inhibited by adenosine or adenosine analogue coadministered intrathecally. J Pharmacol. Exp. Ther. 246 (1988) 565-70

de Varebeke P.J., Cavalier R., David-Ramacle M., De Mey J.and Yodium M.B.H. Formation of the neurotransmitter glycine from the anticonvulsant milacemide is mediated by brain monoamine oxidase B. J Neurochem. 50(1988) 1011-16

de Varebeke P.J., Pauwels G., Buyse C., David-Ramacle M., De Mey J., Roba J and Yodium M.B.H. The novel psychotropic agent milacemide is a specific enzyme activated inhibitor of brain monoamine oxidase. Br. J Neurochem. 53 (1989) 1109-16

Devor M., Wall P.D. and Catalan N. Systemic lidocaine silences ectopic neuroma and DRG discharge without blocking nerve conduction. Pain 48 (1992) 261-268

Dickenson A.H. and Sullivan A.F. Evidence for a role of the NMDA receptor in the frequency dependent potentioation of deep rat dorsal horn nociceptive neurons following C-fiber stimulation. Neuropharmacology 25 (1987) 1235-38

Dickenson A.H. A cure for wind up: NMDA receptor antagonists as potential analgesics. Trends Pharmacol. Sci. 11(1990) 307-09

Dickenson A.H., Sullivan A.F., Stanfa L.C. and Mcquay H.J. Dextromethorphan and levorphanol on dorsal horn nociceptive neurons in the rat. Neuropharmacol. 30 (1991) 1303-8

Diring D.M. and Yaksh T.L. Intrathecal baclofen and muscimol, but not midazolam, are antinociceptive using the rat-formaline model. J Pharmacol. Exp. Ther. 275 (1995) 219-27 Dohi S., Kitahata L.M., Toyoka H., Ohtani M., Namiki A.and Taub A. An analgesic action of intravenously administered lidocalne on dorsal horn neurons responding to noxious thermal stimulation. Anesthesio<sup>10</sup>09 / 51 (1979) 123-26

Dolphin A.C. and Prestwich S.A. Pertussin toxin reverses adenosine inhibition of neuronal gluatmate release. Nature 316 (1985) 148-50

Dougherty P.M., Palecek J., Sorkin L.S. and Willis W.D. The role of NMDA and non-NMDA excitatory amino acid receptors in the excitation of primate spinothalamic tract neurons by mechanical, chemical, thermal and electrical stimuli. J Neurosci. 12(1992) 3025-41

Dray A., Urban L. and Dickenson A. Pharm<sup>acol</sup>ogy of chronic pain. TiPS 15 (1994) 190-7

Dubner R. Neuronal plasticity and pain following peripheral tissue inflammation or nerve injury. In M.R. Bond, J.E. Charlato<sup>n</sup> and C.J.Wooff (Eds) Proc. of the VI th World Congresson Pain Elsevier, Amsterd<sup>am</sup> (1991) 263-276

Edwards W.T., Habib F., Burney R.G. and Begin G. Intravenous lidocaine in the management of various chronic pain states. Reg. Anesth. 10 (1985) 1-6

Eide P.K., Jørum E., Stubhaug A., Bremnes J. And Breivik H. Relief of postherpetic neuralgia with the N-methyl-D-aspartic acid receptor antagonist ketamine: a double blind, cross-over comparison with <sup>morphine</sup> and placebo. Pain 58 (1994) 347-54

Eide P.K., Stubhaug A. and Stenehjern A.E. Central dysesthesia pain after traumatic spinal cord injury is dependent on N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor activation. Neurosurgery 37 (1995) 1080-87

Evans R.H. Pharmacology of segmental transmission in the spinal cord. Progr. Neurobiol. 33 (1989) 255-79

Evans R.H. and Long S.K. Primary afferent depolarisation in the rat spinal cord is mediated by pathways utilising NMDA and hon-NMDA receptors. Neurosci Lett. 100 (1989) 231-36

Fagg G.E. and Foster A.C. Amino acid neurotransmitters and their pathways in the mammalian central nervous system. Neuroscience 9 (1983) 701-19

Fastborn J. and Fredholm B.B. Inhibition of [<sup>3</sup>H] glutamate release from rat hippocampal slices by L-phenylisopropyladenosine. Acta. Physiol. Scand. 125 (1985) 121-3

Fastborn J., Post C. and Fredholm B.B. Antinociceptive effects and spinal distribution of two adenosine receptor agonists after intrathecal administration. Pharmacol. Toxocol. 66 (1990) 69-72

Fraser H.M., Chapman V. and Dickenson A.H. Spinal local anesthetic actions on afferent evoked responses and wind-up of nociceptive neurons in the rat spinal cord: combination with morphine produces marked potentiation of antinociception. Pain (1992) 33-41

Galer S.B. Neuropathic pain of peripheral origin: Advances in pharmacologic treatment. Neurology 45 supp 9 (1995) S17-S25

Game C.J.A and Lodge D. The pharmacology of inhibition of dorsal horn neurons by impulses in myelinated cutaneous afferents in the cat. Exp. Brain Res. 23 (1975) 75-84

Gonzales R.G. Central pain: diagnosis and treatment strategies. Neurology 45 supp 9 (1995)S11-S16

Gundlach A.L., Dodd P.R., Grabara C.S.G., Watson W.E.J., Johnston G.A.R., Haper P.A.W., Dennis J.A. and Healy P.J. Deficit of spinal cord glycine/strychnine receptors in inherited myocionus of Poll Hereford calves. Science 241 (1988) 1807-9

Hammond D.L. and Drower E.J. Effects of intrathecally administered THIP, baciofen and muscimol on nociceptive threshold. Eur. J Pharmacol. 103 (1984) 121-25

Handelmann G.E., Nevins M.E., Mueller L.L., Arnolde A.A. and Cordi A.A. Milacemide, a glycine prodrug, enhances performance of learning tasks in normal and annestic rodents. Pharmacol. Biochem. Behav. 34 (1989) 823-28

Hao J.X., Xu X.J., Yu Y.X., Seiger A. and Wiesenfeld-Hallin Z. Transient spinal cord ischemia induces temporary hypersensitivity of dorsal horn wide dynamic range neurons to myelinated, but not unmyelinated, fiber input. J Neurophysiology 68 (1992) 384-391

110

Headley P.M. and Grillner S. Excitatory amino acids and synaptic transmission: The evidence for physiological function. TiPS 11 (1990) 205-11

Hegarty A. and Portenoy R.K. Pharmacotherapy of neuropathic pain. Seminare in Neurology 14 (1994) 213-24

Henry J.L. Concepts of pain sensation and its modulation. J Rheumatology 16 suppl 19 (1989) 104-12

Houtkooper M.A., Van Oorshoot C.A.E.H., Rentmeester T.W., Hoppener P.J.E.A and Onkelinx C. Double blind study of milacemide in hospitalised therapy resistant patients with epilepsy. Epilepsia 27 (1986) 255-62

Igwemezie L.N., Beatch G.N., Walker M.J.A. and McErlane K.M. Tissue distribution of mexiletine enantiomers in rats. Xenobiotica 21 (1991) 1153-58

Igwemezie L.N., Beatch G.N., McErlane K.M. and Walker M.J.A. Mexiletine's antifibrillatory actions are limited by the occurrence of convulsions in conscious animals. Eur. J. Pharmacol. 210 (1992) 271-77

Jadad A.R., Carroll D., Glynn C.J., Moore R.A. and McQuay H.J. Morphine responsiveness of chronic pain-Double blind randomized cross over study with patient-controlled analgesia. The Lancet 339 (1992) 1367-71

Jockers R., Linder M.E., Hohenegger M., Nanoff C., Bertin B., Strosberg A.D., Marulio S. and Freissmuth M. Species difference in the G-protein selectivity of the human and bovine A, adenosine receptor. J Biol. Chem. 269 (1994) 32077-84

Kandel E. and Schwartz J.H. Principles of neural science 3 rd Eds. Elsevier pp 301-343

Kangrga I. and Randic M. Outflow of endogenous aspartate and glutamate from the rat spinal dorsal horn *in vitro* by activation of low- and high- threshold primary afferent fibres. Modulation by µ-opioids. Brain Res. 553 (1991) 347-52

Kangrga I., Jiang M. and Randic M. Actions of (-)-baclofen on rat dorsal horn neurons. Brain Res. 562 (1991) 265-75

Kapadia S.E. and LaMotte C.C. Deafferentation-induced alterations in the rat dorsal horn. I. Comparison of peripheral nerve injury vs rhizotomy effects on presynaptic, postsynaptic and glial processes. J Comp. Neurol. 266 (1987) 183-97 Karlsten R. and Gordh T. Jr. An A<sub>1</sub>-selective adenosine agonist abolishes allodynia elicited by vibration and touch after intrathecal injection. Anesth. Analg. 80 (1995) 844-7

Kastrup J., Angelo H.R., Petersen P, Dejgard A. And Hilsted J. Treatment of chronic diabetic neuropathy with intravenous lidocaine infusion. Br. Med. J 292 (1986) 173

King A.E. and Lopez-Garcia J.A. Excitatory amino acid receptor-mediated neurotransmission from cutaneous afferents in rat dorsal horn *in vitro*. J Physiol 472 (1939) 443-57

Koltzenburg M., Lundberg L.E. and Torebjörk H.E. Dynamic and static components of mechnical hyperalgesia in human hairy skin. Pain 51 (1992) 207-19

Konietzny F., Perl E.R., Trevino T., Light A. and Hensel H. Sensory experiences in man evoked by intraneural electrical stimulation of intact cutaneous afferent fibers. Exp. Brain Res. 42 (1981) 219-22

Kupers R.C., Konings H., Adriaensen H. and Gybels J. Morphine differentially affects the sensory and affective pain ratings in neurogenic and idiopathic forms of pain. Pain 47 (1991) 5-12

Lee S.H., Kayser V., Desmeules J. and Guilbaud G. Differential action of morphine and various opioid agonists on thermal allodynia and hyperalgesia in mononeuropathic rats. Pain 57 (1994) 233-40

Lee Y-W and Yaksh T.L. Pharmacology of the spinal adenosine receptors which mediates the antiallodynic action of intrathecal adenosine agonists. J Pharmacol. Exp. Ther. 277 (1996) 1642-48

Li J. and Perl E.R. Adenosine inhibition of synaptic transmission in the substantia gelatinosa. J Neuropharmacol. 72 (1994) 1611-21

Lincoln D.W., Hentzen K., Hin T., Van der Schoot P., Clarke G. and Summerlee A.J.S. Sleep, a prerequisite for reflex milk ejection in rats. Exp. Brain Res. 38 (1980) 151-62 Lindstrom P. and Lindblom U. Analgesic action of tocainide in trigeminal neuralgia. Pain 28 (1987) 45-50

Lindblom U. and Verrillo R.T. Sensory functions in chronic neuralgia. J Neurol. Neurosur. Psychiat. 42 (1979) 422-35

Liu D., Sorkin L.S., Hughes M.G. and McAdoo D.J. Release of aspartate and glutamate in the dorsal horn of the cat lumbar spinal cord in response to intrademal capsaicin injection. Society of Neuroscience Abstract 15 (1989) 549

Marala R.B. and Mustafa S.J. Direct evidence for the coupling of A<sub>2</sub>-adenosine receptor to stimulatory guanine neucleotide-binding-protein in bovine brain striatum. J Pharmacol. Exp. Ther. 266 (1993) 294-300

Maxwell D.J., Chrisie W.M., Brown A.G., Ottersen O.P. and Storm-Mathisen J. Identified hair follicle afferent boutons in the spinal cord of the cat arre enriched with L-glutamate-like immunoreactivity. Brain Res. 606 (1993) 156-61

Mayer M.L. and Westbrook G.L. The physiology of excitatory amino acids in the vertebrate central nervous system. Progr. Neurobiol. 28 (1987) 197-276

McGowan M.K. and Hammond D.L. Intrathecal GABAs antagonists attenuate the antinociception produced by microinjection of I-glutamate into the ventromedial medulla of the rat. Brain Res. 607 (1993) 39-46

McLachlan E.M., Janig W., Drevor M. and Michaelis M. Peripheral nerve injury triggers noradrenergic sprouting within the dorsal root ganglia. Nature 363 (1993) 543-46

Melzack R. And Wall P.D. Pain mechanisms: a new theory. Science 150 (1965) 971-80

Mendell L.M. Physiological properties of unmyelinated fibre projection to the spinal cord. Exp. Neurol. 16 (1966) 316-332

Merskey H. Classification of chronic pain, Pain suppl. 3 (1986) S28-29, S216-21

Meyer, R.A., Campbell, J.N. and Raja, S.N., Peripheral neural mechanisms of cutaneous hyperalgesia. In: H.L. Fields, R. Dubner and P. Cervero (Eds.), Advances in Pain Research and Therapy, vol. 9, Raven Press, New York, 1985, pp. 53-71. Milne, B., Duggan, S., Jhamandas, K. and Loomis, C.W., Innocuous hair deflection evokes a nociceptive-like activation of catechol oxidation in the rat locus coeruleus following intrathecal strychnine: a biochemical index of allodynia using *in vivo* voltammetry. Brain Res. 718 (1996) 198-202.

Minami T., Uda R., Horiguchi S., Ito S., Hyodo M. and Hayaishi O. Allodynia evoked by intrathecal administration of prostagaIndin  $F_{2\alpha}$  to conscious mice. Pain 50 (1992) 223-9

Minami T., Nishihara I., Uda R., Ito S., Hyodo M. and Hayaishi O. Involvement of glutamate receptors in allodynia induced by prostaglandins  $E_2$  and  $F_{2\alpha}$  injected into conscious mice. Pain 57 (1994) 225-31

Mitchell K., Spike R.C. and Todd A.J. An immunocytochemical study of glycine receptors and GABA in lamina I-III of rat spinal dorsal horn. J Neurosci. 13 (1993) 2371-81

Morris R. Responses of spinal dorsal horn neurons evoked by myelinated primary afferent stimulation are blocked by excitatory amino acid antagonists acting at kainate/quisqualate receptors. Neurosci. Lett. 105 (1988) 79-85

Nagy J.I. and Daddona P.E. Anatomical and cytochemical relationship of adenosine deaminase-containing primary afferent neurons in the rat. Neurosci. 15 (1985) 799-813

Nagy I. and Woolf C.J. Lignocaine selectively reduces C fibre-evoked neuronal activity in rat spinal cord *in vitro* by decreasing N-methyl-D-aspartate and neurokinin receptor-mediated post-synaptic depolarization; implication for the development of novel centrally acting analgesics. Pain 64 (1996) 59-70

Näsström J., Karlsson U. and Post C. Antinociceptive actions of different classes of excitatory amino acid receptor antagonists in mice. Eur. J. Pharmacol. 212 (1992) 21-9

Noordenbos W. and Wall P.D. Implications of the failure of nerve resection and graft to cure chronic pain produced by nerve lesions. J Neurolo. Neurosurg. Psychiat. 44 (1981) 1068-73

O'Brien E.M., Tipton K.F., McCrodden J.M. and Youdim M.B.H. The interactions of milacemide with monoamine oxidase. Biochem. Pharmacol. 47 (1994) 617-23 Onaka M., Minami T., Nishihara I. and Ito S. Involvement of glutamate receptors in strychnine- and bicuculline-induced allodynia in conscious mice. Anesthesiology 84 (1996) 1215-22

Pan Z. H. and Slaughter M.M. Comparison of the action of glycine and related amino acids on the isolated third order neurons from the tiger salamander relina. Neurosci. 64 (1995) 153-64

Perschak H. and Cuenod M. In vivo release of endogenous glutamate and aspartate in the rat striatum during stimulation of cortex. Neuroscience 35 (1990) 283-87

Poon A. and Sawynok J. Antinociception by adenosine analogs and an adenosine kinase inhibitor: dependence on formaline concentration. Eur. J. Pharmacol. 286 (1995) 177-84

Portency R.K., Foley K.M., and Inturrisi C.E. The nature of opioid responsiveness and its implications for neuropathic pain: New hypotheses derived from studies of opioid infusions. Pain 43 (1990) 273–86.

Price D.D., Hayes R.L., Ruda M.A. and Dubner R. Spatial and temporal transformations of input to spinothalamic tract neurons and their relation to somatic sensation. J Neurophysiol. 41 (1978) 933-47

Price G.W., Kelly J.S., Bowery N.G. The location of GABA<sub>8</sub> receptor binding sites in mammalian spinal cord. Synapse 1(1987) 530-8

Price D.D., Bennett J.G. and Rafii A. Psychophysiological observations on patients with neuropathic pain relieved by a sympathetic block. Pain 36 (1989) 273-288.

Price D.D., Long S. and Huitt C. Sensory testing of pathophysiological mechanism of pain in patients with reflex sympathetic dystrophy. Pain 49 (1992) 163-173

Price D.D., Mao J. and Mayer D.J. Central neural mechanisms of normal and abnormal pain states; In: H.L. Fields and J.C. Liebeskind (Eds.) Pharmacological approaches to the treatment of chronic pain: New concepts and critical issues Raven Press, New York (1994a) 61-84

Price D.D., Mao J., Frenk H. and Mayer D.J. The NMDA receptor antagonist dextromethorphan selectively reduces temporal summation of second pain in man Pain 59 (1994) 165-74 Rizzoli A.A. Distribution of glutamic acid, aspartic acid,  $\gamma$ -aminobutyric acid and glycine in six areas of cat spinal cord before and after transection. Brain Res. 11 (1968) 11-18

Roberts L.A. Bayer C. and Komisaruk B.R. Nociceptive responses to altered GABAergic activity at the spinal cord. Life Sci. 39 (1986) 1667-74

Rosse R.B., Schwatrz B.L., Leighton M.P., Davis R.E. and Duetsch S.I. An NMDA intervention strategy in schizophrenia with low dose milacemide. Clin. Neuropahmacol. 14 (1991) 268-72

Rowbotham M.C., Reisner-keller L.A. and Fields H.A. Both intravenous lidocaine and morphine reduce pain of postherpetic neuralgia. Neurology 41 (1991) 1024-28

Rowbotham C.M. Chronic pain: from theory to practical management. Neurology 45 (1995) S5-S10

Rudomin P., Jimenez I., Quevedo J. and Solodkin M. Pharmacological analysis of inhibition produced by last-order intermediate nucleus interneurons mediating nonreciprocal inhibition of motoneurons in cat spinal cord. J Neurophysiol. 63 (1990) 147-60

Saletu B., Grunberger J. and Linzmayer L. Acute and subacute central nervous system effects of milacemide in elderly people. Double blind placebo controlled quantitative electroencephalography and psychometric investigation. Arc. Gerentol. Geriat. 5 (1986) 165-81

Salter M.W. and Henry J.L. Evidence that adenosine mediates the depression of spinal dorsal horn neurons induced by peripheral vibration in the cat. Neuroscience 22 (1987) 631-50

Sawynok J., Sweeney M.I. and White T.D. Classification of adenosine receptors mediating antinociception in the rat spinal cord. Br. J. Pharmacol. 88 (1986) 923-30

Sawynok J. and Sweeney M.I. The role of purines in nociception. Neuroscience 32(1989) 557-69

Schouenborg J. and Sjolund B.H. First order nociceptive synapses in rat dorsal horn are blocked by an amino antagonist. Brain Res. 376 (1986) 394-98

Schwartz B.L., Hashtroudi S., Herting R.L. and Deutsch S.I. The effect of milacemide on item and source memory. Clin. Neuropharmacol. 15 (1992) 114-19

Segerdahl M., Ekblom A. And Sollevi A. The influence of adenosine, ketamine and morphine on experimentally induced ischemic pain in healthy volunteers. Aneth. Anala, 79 (1994) 787-91

Semba J. and Patsalos P.N. Milacemide effects on the temporal inter-relationship of amino acids and monoamine metabolites in rat cerebrospinal fluid. Eur. J. Pharmacol. 230 (1993) 321-26

Semba J., Curzon G. and Patsalos P.N. Antiepileptic drug pharmacokinetics and neuropaharmacokinetics in Individual rats by repetitive withdrawal of blood and cerebrospinal fluid: milacemide. Br. J Pharmacology 108 (1993) 1117-24

Sherman S.E. and Loomis C.W. Morphine insensitive allodynia is produced by intrathecal strychnine in the lightly anesthetized rat. Pain 56 (1994) 17-29.

Sherman, S.E. and Loomis, C.W., Strychnine-dependent allodynia in the urethaneanesthetized ral is segmentally distributed and prevented by intrathecal glycine and betaine, Can. J. Physiol. Pharmacol. 73 (1995) 1698-1705.

Sherman S.E. and Loomis C.W. Strychnine-sensitive modulation is selective for non-noxious somatosensory input in the spinal cord. Pain 66 (1996) 321-30

Sherman S.E., Luo L and Dostrovsky J.O. Spinal strychnine alters receptive fields and sensory modalities of rat thalamic neurons. Proceedings of the 8th World Congress on Pain Vancouver Canada IASP Press (1996) p 245

Shir Y. and Seltzer Z. A-fiber mediates mechanical hyperesthesia and allodynia and C-fibers mediate hyperalgesia in a new model of causalgiform pain disorder in rats. Neurosci. Lett. 115 (1990) 62-67

Silvilotti L. and Nistri A. GABA receptor mechanisms in the central nervous system. Prog Neurobiol. 36 (1991) 35-92

Sivilotti L. and Woolf C.J. The contribution of GABA<sub>A</sub> and glycine receptors to central sensitization: Disinhibition and touch-evoked allodynia in the spinal cord. J Neurophysiol. 72 (1) (1994) 169-79

Skilling S.R., Smullin D.H., Beitz A.J. and Larson A.A. Extracellular amino acid

concentrations in the dorsal spinal cord of freely moving rats following veratridine and nociceptive stimulation. J Neurochem. 51 (1988) 127-32

Sollevi A, Belfrage M, Lundeberg T, Segerdahl M, and Hansson P. Clinical note: Systemic adenosine infusion: a new treatment modality to alleviate neuropathic pain. Pain 61 (1995) 155-8

Sorkin L.S., Westlund K.N., Sluka K.A., Dougherty P.M. and Willis W.D. Neural changes in acute arthritis in monkeys. IV. Time course of amino acid release into the lumbar dorsal horm. Brain Res. Rev. 17 (1992) 39-50

Sosnowski M. and Yaksh T.L. Role of adenosine receptors in modulating the hyperesthesia produced by spinal glycine receptor antagonism. Anesth. Analg. 69 (1989) 587-92

Sosnowski M., Stevens C.W. and Yaksh T.L. Assessment of the role of A<sub>i</sub>/A<sub>2</sub> adenosine receptors mediating the purine antinociception, motor and autonomic function in the rat spinal cord. J Pharmacol Exp Ther. 250 (1989) 915-22

Steinhaus J.E. and Howland D.E. Intravenously administered lidocaine as a supplement to nitrous oxide-thiobarbiturate anesthesia. Anesth. Analg. 37 (1958) 40-46

Stone T.W. Physiological roles for adenosine and adenosine 5'-triphosphate in the nervous system Neuroscience 6 (1981) 523-55

Storm-Mathisen J. and Ottersen O.P. Tracing of neurons with glutamate or γaminobutyrate as putative transmitters. Biochem. Soc. Trans. 15 (1987) 210-13

Sugimoto T., Bennett G.J. and Kajander K.C. Strychnine enhanced trans-synaptic degeneration of dorsal horn neurons in rats with an experimental painful peripheral neuropathy Neurosci. Lett. 98 (1989) 139-43

Sugimoto T., Bennett G.J. and Kajander K.C. Trans-synaptic degeneration in the superficial dorsal horn after sciatic nerve injury: effects of a chronic constriction injury, transsection and strychnine. Pain 42 (1990) 205-13

Tallarida R.J. and Murry R.B. 1987. Manual of Pharmacological Calculations. Springer-Verlag New York pp 10-30.

Tanelian D.L. and Maclver M.B. Analgesic concentrations of lidocaine suppress

tonic A-delta and C-fibre discharge produced by acute injury. Anesthesiology 74 (1991) 934-36

Tasker R. Pain resulting from central nervous system pathology (central pain). In: J. Bonica (Ed.), The Management of Pain. Vol 1, Lea and Febiger, Philadelphia, PA (1990) 264-86.

Tasker R.R., DeCarvalho G.T.C. and Dolan E.J. Intractable pain of spinal cord origin: clinical features and implication for surgury. J Neurosurg. 77 (1992) 373-78

Todd A.J. An electron microscope study of glycine-like immunoreactivity in lamina I-III of the spinal dorsal horn of the rat. Neuroscience 39 (1990) 387-394

Todd A.J. and Sullivan A.C. Light microscopic study of the coexistence of GABAlike and glycine-like immunoreactivities in the spinal cord of the rat. J Comp. Neurol. 296 (1990) 496-505

Todd A.J., Watt C., Spike R.C. and Sieghart W. Colocalization of GABA A, glycine and their receptors at synapses in the rat spinal cord. J Neurosci. 16 (1996) 974-82

Torebjörk H.E. and Ochoa J.L. Specific sensations evoked by activity in single identified sensory units in man. Acta. Physiol. Scand. 110 (1980) 445-7

Treede R.D., Raja S.N., Davis K.D., Meyer R.A. and Campbell J.N. Evidence that alpha-adrenergic receptors mediate sympathetically maintained pain. In: M.R. Bond, J.E. Charlton and C.J. Woolf (Eds.), Proceedings of the VIth World Congress on Pain, Elsevier, Amsterdam, 1991, pp. 377-382.

Triggs W.J. and Beric A. Sensory abnormalities and dysesthesia in the anterior spinal artery syndrome. Brain 115 (1992) 189-198.

Tureen L.L. Effect of experimental temporary vascular occlusion on the spinal cord. Arch. Neuro. Psychiat. 35 (1936) 789-807

Urban, L., Thompson, S.W.N., and Dray, A., Modulation of spinal excitability: cooperation between neurokinin and excitatory amino acid neurotransmitters. TINS 17 (1994) 432-38.

Van Calker P., Muller M. and Hamprecht B. Adenosine regulates via two different types of receptors the accumulation of C-AMP in cultured brain cells. J Neurochem. 33 (1979) 999-1005 Van den Pol A.N. and Grocs T. Glycine and glycine receptor immunoreactivity in brain and spinal cord. J Neurosci. 8 (1988) 472-92

Van Dorsser W., Barris D., Cordi A. and Roba J. Anticonvulsant activity of milacemide. Arch Pharmacodyn. 266 (1983) 234

Wall P.D. and Devor M. Sensory afferent impulses originate from dorsal root ganglia as well as the periphery in normal and nerve injured rats. Pain 17 (1983) 321-39

Wanaka A, Shiotani Y, Kiyama H, Matsuyama T, Kamada T, Shoisaka S. and Tohyama M. Glutamate-like immunoreactive structures in primary sensory neurons in the rat detected by a specific antiserum against glutamate. Exp. Brain Res. 65 (1987) 691-94

Watkings J.C., Krogsgaard-Larsen P. and Honore T. Structure activity relationships in the development of excitatory amino acid receptor agonists and competitive antagonists. Trends Pharmacol. Sci 11 (1990) 25-33

Westlund K.N. McNeill D.L., Patterson J.T. and Coggshall R.E. Aspartate immunoreactive axons in normal rat L4 dorsal roots. Brain Res. 489 (1989) 347-51

Westlund K.N. McNeill D.L., and Coggshall R.E. Glutamate immunoreactivity in rat dorsal root axons. Neurosci. Lett. 96 (1990) 13-17

White J.C. and Sweet W.H. Pain and the neurosurgeon. A forty year experience. Thomas Springfield III (1969)

White W.F. and Heller A.H. Glycine receptor alteration in the mutant mouse spastic. Nature 298 (1982) 655-657

Wilcockson W.S., Chung J.M., Hori Y., Lee K.H. and Willis W.D. Effects of iontophoretically released peptides on primate spinothalamic tract cells. J. Neurosci. 4 (1984) 741-50

Wilcox G.L., Kitto K.F. and Loomis C.W. Spinal neural responses to innocuous stimulation "wind up" in the presence of i.t. strychnine. Society For Neurosci. 208.10 (1996) 511

Wilson P.R. and Yaksh T.L. Baclofen is antinociceptive in spinal intrathecal space of animals. Eur. J Pharmacol. 51 (1978) 323-30

Wirth F.R. and Rutherford R.B. A civilian experience with causalgia. Arc Surg 100 (1970) 633-38

Woolf C.J. and Thompson S.W.N. The induction and maintenance of central sensitization is dependent on NMDA receptor activation: Implication for the treatment of post-injury pain hypersensitivity states. Pain 44 (1991) 293-99.

Wootf C.J.and Wiesenfeld-Hallin Z. The systemic administration of local anesthetics produces a selective depression of C-afferent fibers evoked activity in the spinal cord. Pain 23 (1985) 361-74

Woolf C.J. and Wall P.D. The relative effectiveness of C-primary afferent fibers of different origins in evoking a prolonged facilitation of the flexor reflex in the rat. J Neurosci. 6 (1986) 1433-42

Woolf C.J., Shortland P. and Coggeshall R.E. Peripheral nerve injury triggers central sprouting of myelinated afferents. Nature 355 (1992) 75-78

Woolf C. The pathophysiology of peripheral neuropathic pain-abnormal peripheral input and abnormal central processing. Acta. Neurochir. 58 (1993) 125-30

Xu, X.-J., Hao J.-X., Seiger, A., Amer, S., Lindblom, U. and Wiesenfeld-Hallin, Z. Systemic mexiletine relieves chronic allodynia like symptoms in rats with ischemic spinal cord injury. Anesth. Analg. 74 (1992) 649-52.

Yaksh T.L. Behavioral and autonomic correlates of tactile evoked allodynia produced by spinal glycine inhibition: Effects of modulatory receptor systems and excitatory amino acid antagonists. Pain 37 (1989) 111-23.

Yaksh T.L. The central pharmacology of pain states. IASP refresher course syllabus (1993) 13-30

Yaksh T.L. and Malmberg A.B. Central pharmacology of nociceptive transmission, Textbook of Pain. 3rd Ed. Edited by Wall P.D., Edinburgh M.R. and Livingstone C. 1994, 165-200

Yamamoto T. and Yaksh T.L Spinal pharmacology of thermal hyperesthesia induced by incomplete ligation of sciatic nerve I. Opioid and non-opioid receptors. Anesthesiology 75 (1991) 817-26

Yodium M.B.H., Kerem D. and Duvdevani Y. The glycine pro-drug, milacemide,

increases the seizure threshold due to hyperbaric oxygen: Prevention by Ideprenyl. Eur. J Phramacol. 150 (1988) 381-84

Yokota T., Nishikawa N. and Nishikawa Y. Effects of strychnine upon different classes of trigeminal subnucleus caudalis neurons. Brain Res. 168 (1979) 430-34.

Young A.B. and Synder S.H. Strychnine binding in spinal cord membranes associated with the synaptic glycine receptors: Cooperativity of glycine interactions. Mol. Pharmacol. 10 (1974) 790-809

Yoshimura M. and Nishi S. Primary afferent evoked glycine and GABA-mediated IPSPs in substantia gelatinosa neurons in the rat spinal cord *in vivo*. J Physiol. 482 (1995) 29-38

Zarbin M.A., Wamsley J.K. and Kuhar M.J. Glycine receptors: Light microscopic autoradiograhic localization with [<sup>3</sup>H] strychnine. J Neurosci.13 (1981) 532-47

Zieglgänsberger W. and Hertz A. Changes of cutaneous receptive fields of spinocervical tract neurons and other dorsal horn neurons by microelectrophoretically administered amino acids Exp. Brain Res. 13 (1971) 111-26



